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1.  Consolidated Financial Statements, etc. 
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
Komatsu Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 

  2020  2019 

Assets  Millions of yen  Ratio (%)  Millions of yen  Ratio (%) 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21)  ¥ 247,616   ¥ 148,479  

Time deposits (Note 21)  2,057   2,331  

Trade notes and accounts receivable, net (Notes 4, 7, 15, 17 and 24)  744,395   842,183  

Inventories (Note 5)  805,309   837,552  

Other current assets (Notes 7, 9, 20, 21, 22 and 24)  147,413   138,415  

Total current assets  1,946,790  53.3  1,968,960  54.1 

Long-term trade receivables, net (Notes 4, 15, 17, 21 and 24)  420,918  11.5  416,363  11.4 

Investments     

Investments in and advances to affiliated companies (Note 7)  38,210   37,321  

Investment securities (Notes 6, 21 and 22)  7,328   7,473  

Other  2,436   2,528  

Total investments  47,974  1.3  47,322  1.3 

Property, plant and equipment     

– less accumulated depreciation and amortization (Notes 8 and 17)  757,679  20.8  776,422  21.3 

Operating lease right-of-use assets (Notes 1 and 17)  53,454  1.5  －  － 

Goodwill (Notes 3 and 10)  157,521  4.3  161,921  4.5 

Other intangible assets     

– less accumulated amortization (Notes 3 and 10)  162,062  4.4  166,406  4.6 

Deferred income taxes and other assets (Notes 12, 16, 20, 21, 22 and 24)  107,288  2.9  100,825  2.8 

Total assets  ¥ 3,653,686  100.0  ¥ 3,638,219  100.0 
 

  2020  2019 

Liabilities and Equity  Millions of yen  Ratio (%)  Millions of yen  Ratio (%) 

Current liabilities     

Short-term debt (Notes 11 and 21)  ¥ 483,658   ¥ 404,659  

Current maturities of long-term debt (Notes 11 and 21)  118,880   53,556  

Trade notes, bills and accounts payable (Note 7)  220,160   266,951  

Income taxes payable (Note 16)  23,169   43,022  

Current operating lease liabilities (Notes 1 and 17)  14,933   －  

Other current liabilities (Notes 12, 15, 19, 20, 21, 22 and 24)  297,825   313,951  

Total current liabilities  1,158,625  31.7  1,082,139  29.7 

Long-term liabilities     

Long-term debt (Notes 11 and 21)  409,840   472,485  

Liability for pension and retirement benefits (Note 12)  96,392   90,187  

Long-term operating lease liabilities (Notes 1 and 17)  38,624   －  

Deferred income taxes and other liabilities (Notes 15, 16, 19, 20, 21 and 22)  93,980   90,540  

Total long-term liabilities  638,836  17.5  653,212  18.0 

Total liabilities  1,797,461  49.2  1,735,351  47.7 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 19)     

     

Equity     

Komatsu Ltd. shareholders’ equity (Note 13)     

Common stock:     

Authorized 3,955,000,000 shares     

Issued 972,581,230 shares     

Outstanding 944,621,957 shares in 2020 and 943,908,946 shares in 2019  68,689   68,311  

Capital surplus  136,459   136,798  

Retained earnings:     

Appropriated for legal reserve  46,813   46,028  

Unappropriated  1,699,477   1,654,105  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (Notes 12, 14, 20 and 22)  (130,666)  (39,792) 

Treasury stock at cost,     

27,959,273 shares in 2020 and 28,343,514 shares in 2019 (Note 13)  (49,166)  (49,868) 

Total Komatsu Ltd. shareholders’ equity  1,771,606  48.5  1,815,582  49.9 

Noncontrolling interests  84,619  2.3  87,286  2.4 

Total equity  1,856,225  50.8  1,902,868  52.3 

Total liabilities and equity  ¥ 3,653,686  100.0  ¥ 3,638,219  100.0 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
Komatsu Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
 

 2020  2019 

 Millions of yen  Ratio(%)  Millions of yen  Ratio(%) 

Net sales (Notes 1, 7, 14, 15, 17 and 20) ¥ 2,444,870  100.0  ¥ 2,725,243  100.0 
Cost of sales (Notes 1, 8, 10, 12, 14, 17, 20 and 25) 1,749,048  71.5  1,885,163  69.2 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 
(Notes 3, 8, 10, 12, 13, 17 and 25) 440,792  18.0  440,687  16.2 
Impairment loss on long-lived assets (Notes 23 and 25) 3,194  0.1  1,251  0.0 
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 10) 3,699  0.2  －  － 

Other operating income (expenses), net (Note 25) 2,570  0.1  (336)  (0.0)
Operating income 250,707  10.3  397,806  14.6 
Other income (expenses), net (Note 25)    

Interest and dividend income (Note 7) 7,378  0.3  7,154  0.3 
Interest expense (24,592)  (1.0)  (24,101)  (0.9)
Other, net (Notes 6, 12, 14, 20 and 22) (10,379)  (0.4)  (3,388)  (0.1)
Total (27,593)  (1.1)  (20,335)  (0.7)
Income before income taxes and equity in 
earnings of affiliated companies 223,114  9.1  377,471  13.9 
Income taxes (Notes 14 and 16)    

Current 66,464   112,541  
Deferred (3,591)   (5,942)  

Total 62,873  2.6  106,599  3.9 
Income before equity in earnings of affiliated companies 160,241  6.6  270,872  9.9 
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies 3,443  0.1  3,779  0.1 
Net income 163,684  6.7  274,651  10.1 
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 9,840  0.4  18,160  0.7 
Net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. ¥ 153,844  6.3  ¥ 256,491  9.4 

 

 Yen 

Per share data (Note 18):    

Net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd.:    

Basic ¥ 162.93   ¥ 271.81  
Diluted ¥ 162.80   ¥ 271.51  

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net income ¥ 163,684  ¥ 274,651 
Other comprehensive income (loss), for the period, net of tax  

Foreign currency translation adjustments (Notes 14 and 16) (94,938)  (3,373)
Pension liability adjustments (Notes 12, 14 and 16) (1,096)  (3,138)
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on derivative instruments (Notes 14, 16 and 20) (1,392)  (1,676)
Total (97,426)  (8,187)
Comprehensive income 66,258  266,464 
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 3,259  17,888 
Comprehensive income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. ¥ 62,999  ¥ 248,576 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Equity 
Komatsu Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 
 Millions of yen 

       Retained earnings                

 
Common 

stock 
 

Capital 

surplus 
 

Appropriated 

for legal 

reserve 

 
Un- 

appropriated 
 

Accumulated 

other 

comprehensive 

income (loss) 

 
Treasury 

stock 
 

Total 

Komatsu Ltd. 

shareholders’ 

equity 

 

Non- 

controlling 

interests 

 
Total 

equity 

Balance at March 31, 2019 ¥ 68,311  ¥ 136,798  ¥ 46,028  ¥ 1,654,105  ¥ (39,792) ¥ (49,868) ¥ 1,815,582  ¥ 87,286  ¥ 1,902,868 

Cash dividends    (107,687)   (107,687) (6,065) (113,752)

Transfer to retained earnings appropriated 

for legal reserve 

  
785 

 
(785)

   
－ 

  
－ 

Other changes  10    (29)  (19) 139  120 

Net income    153,844    153,844  9,840  163,684 

Other comprehensive income (loss), 

for the period, net of tax (Note 14) 

    
(90,845)

  
(90,845)

 
(6,581)

 
(97,426)

Issuance and exercise of stock acquisition 

rights (Note 13) 
 (759)

     
(759)

  
(759)

Purchase of treasury stock      (33) (33)  (33)

Sales of treasury stock  35     735  770   770 

Restricted stock compensation (Note 13) 378  375      753   753 

Balance at March 31, 2020 ¥ 68,689  ¥ 136,459  ¥ 46,813  ¥ 1,699,477  ¥ (130,666) ¥ (49,166) ¥ 1,771,606  ¥ 84,619  ¥ 1,856,225 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 
 Millions of yen 

       Retained earnings                

 
Common 

stock 
 

Capital 

surplus 
 

Appropriated 

for legal 

reserve 

 
Un- 

appropriated 
 

Accumulated 

other 

comprehensive 

income (loss) 

 
Treasury 

stock 
 

Total 

Komatsu Ltd. 

shareholders’ 

equity 

 

Non- 

controlling 

interests 

 
Total 

equity 

Balance at March 31, 2018 ¥ 67,870  ¥ 138,450  ¥ 45,828  ¥ 1,491,965  ¥ (29,150) ¥ (50,423) ¥ 1,664,540  ¥ 79,050  ¥ 1,743,590 

Cumulative effects of Accounting Standards 

Update—adoption of ASU 2014-09, net of tax 

   

(515)

   

(515)

 

(12)

 

(527)

Cumulative effects of Accounting Standards 

Update—adoption of ASU 2016-01, net of tax 

   

681 

 

(681)

  

－ 

  

－ 

Cumulative effects of Accounting Standards 

Update—adoption of ASU 2016-16, net of tax 

   

(860)

   

(860)

  

(860)

Cash dividends    (93,457)   (93,457) (6,291) (99,748)

Transfer to retained earnings appropriated 

for legal reserve 

  
200 

 
(200)

   
－ 

  
－ 

Other changes  (1,497)   (2,046)  (3,543) (3,349) (6,892)

Net income    256,491    256,491  18,160  274,651 

Other comprehensive income (loss), 

for the period, net of tax (Note 14) 

    
(7,915)

  
(7,915)

 
(272)

 
(8,187)

Issuance and exercise of stock acquisition 

rights (Note 13) 
 (653)

     
(653)

  
(653)

Purchase of treasury stock      (41) (41)  (41)

Sales of treasury stock  60     596  656   656 

Restricted stock compensation (Note 13) 441  438      879   879 

Balance at March 31, 2019 ¥ 68,311  ¥ 136,798  ¥ 46,028  ¥ 1,654,105  ¥ (39,792) ¥ (49,868) ¥ 1,815,582  ¥ 87,286  ¥ 1,902,868 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Komatsu Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Operating activities  

Net income ¥ 163,684  ¥ 274,651 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  

Depreciation and amortization 131,596  131,464 
Deferred income taxes (3,591)  (5,942)
Impairment loss and net loss (gain) on valuation of investment securities (97)  499 
Net gain on sale of fixed assets (4,714)  (1,971)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 3,980  3,660 
Impairment loss on long-lived assets 3,194  1,251 
Impairment loss on goodwill 3,699  － 

Pension and retirement benefits, net (1,672)  (1,827)
Changes in assets and liabilities:  

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 44,568  (74,121)
Decrease (increase) in inventories (9,915)  (99,507)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables (38,340)  (37,683)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable (19,445)  (22,971)

Other, net 22,234  35,045 
Net cash provided by operating activities 295,181  202,548 
Investing activities  

Capital expenditures (184,707)  (192,050)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 14,968  11,200 
Proceeds from sale of investment securities 844  1,960 
Purchases of investment securities (630)  (342)
Acquisition of subsidiaries and equity investees, net of cash acquired (21,646)  (8,035)
Other, net *1 241  63 
Net cash used in investing activities (190,930)  (187,204)
Financing activities  

Proceeds from debt issued (Original maturities greater than three months) 587,157  400,176 
Payment on debt (Original maturities greater than three months) (436,952)  (339,971)
Short-term debt, net (Original maturities three months or less) (37,449)  45,087 
Dividends paid (107,687)  (93,457)
Other, net *2 (8,526)  (15,495)
Net cash used in financing activities (3,457)  (3,660)
Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents (1,657)  (7,602)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 99,137  4,082 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 148,479  144,397 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ¥ 247,616  ¥ 148,479 

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

*1 In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, Komatsu (the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries) has 
classified "Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and equity investees, net of cash disposed" as "Other, net" in the 
investing activities. Accordingly, the figure for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 was reclassified to conform to 
the presentation for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020. 
 

*2 In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, Komatsu has classified "Repayments of finance lease obligations" and 
"Sale (purchase) of treasury stock, net" as "Other, net" in the financing activities. Accordingly, the figures for the 
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fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 were reclassified to conform to the presentation for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2020.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Komatsu Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

1.  Description of Business, Basis of Financial Statement Presentation and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies Description of Business 
In this report, Komatsu Ltd. is hereinafter referred to as the “Company” and together with its consolidated 
subsidiaries as “Komatsu.” 
Komatsu primarily manufactures and markets various types of construction, mining and utility equipment 
throughout the world, provides retail financing to customers and sales distributors and is also engaged in the 
manufacture and sale of industrial machinery and others. 
The consolidated net sales of Komatsu for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, consisted of the following: 
construction, mining and utility equipment business – 90.2%, retail finance business – 2.6%, industrial machinery 
and others business – 7.2%. 
Sales are made principally under the Komatsu brand name, and are almost entirely executed through sales 
subsidiaries and sales distributors. These subsidiaries and distributors are responsible for marketing and distribution 
and primarily sell to retail dealers in their geographical area. Of consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2020, 83.8% were generated outside Japan, with 38.9% in the Americas, 14.7% in Europe and CIS, 
6.4% in China, 18.5% in Asia (excluding Japan and China) and Oceania, and 5.3% in the Middle East and Africa. 
The manufacturing operations of Komatsu are conducted primarily at plants in Japan, the United States, Brazil, the 
United Kingdom, Germany, Italy, Sweden, Russia, China, Indonesia, Thailand, India and South Africa. 
 

Basis of Financial Statement Presentation 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (hereinafter “U.S. GAAP”). 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese yen, the currency of the country in 
which the Company is incorporated and principally operates. 
Some adjustments without being booked on each subsidiaries’ and affiliates’ financial statements are added to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. These adjustments are mainly due to the gaps of accounting 
principles between Japan and the United States of America. See Note 27 “Terminology, Forms and Preparation 
Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements”. 
 

Preparation of Financial Statements and Registration with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
The Company has been preparing its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP since 1963, 
because the Company issued foreign currency convertible bonds at European market in 1964. The Company 
registered its convertible bonds issued in the United States in 1967 and its common shares issued for U.S. 
shareholders as well as Japanese shareholders in 1970 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(hereinafter “SEC”). Since then, the Company, as a non-U.S. issuer, had been having the reporting obligations, 
such as filing annual report with its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s registration with SEC was terminated on June 30, 2014. 
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

(1) Consolidation and Investments in Affiliated Companies 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its majority-owned Japanese 
and foreign subsidiaries, except for certain immaterial subsidiaries. 
Variable interest entities are consolidated for which the Company is the primary beneficiary in accordance with 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (hereinafter “FASB”) Accounting Standards CodificationTM (hereinafter 
“ASC”) 810, “Consolidation”. The consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 include assets for 
the Variable interest entities of ¥15,211 million and ¥26,551 million, respectively. Consolidated variable interest 
entities mainly engage in equipment leasing in Europe. The majority of these assets are trade notes and accounts 
receivable, and long-term trade receivables. 
Investments in affiliated companies whereby Komatsu has the ability to exercise significant influence over the 
operational and financial policies of a company, but does not have a controlling financial interest, are accounted for 
by the equity method. 
 

(2) Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions 
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the exchange rates in effect at each fiscal year-end, and 
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated at the average rates of exchange prevailing during each 
fiscal year in consolidating the financial statements of overseas subsidiaries. The resulting translation adjustments 
are included as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. All foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in other income 
(expenses), net in the period incurred. 
 

(3) Allowance for Doubtful Trade Receivables 
Komatsu records allowance for doubtful receivables as the best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in 
Komatsu’s existing receivables including financing receivables. The amount is determined based on historical 
experience, credit information of individual customers, and assessment of overdue receivables. An additional 
allowance for individual receivables is recorded when Komatsu becomes aware of a customer’s inability to meet its 
financial obligations, such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration of the customer’s business 
performance. The amount of estimated credit losses is further adjusted to reflect changes in customer circumstances. 
 

(4) Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Komatsu determines cost of work in process and 
finished products principally using the specific identification method based on actual costs accumulated under a 
job-order cost system. The cost of finished parts is determined principally using the first-in first-out method. Cost 
of materials and supplies is stated at average cost. 
 

(5) Investment Securities 
Komatsu’s investments in marketable equity securities are stated at fair value. Changes in fair values are included 
in net income in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. 
Komatsu has measured non-marketable equity securities without readily determinable fair value by the method 
where changes in observable prices in orderly transactions for identical or similar investments issued by the same 
issuer are added to or subtracted from the carrying amount after the write-down due to impairment, except for 
investments which are measured at net asset value per share. 
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(6) Property, Plant and Equipment, and Related Depreciation and Amortization 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated by the 
straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
The estimated useful lives used in computing depreciation of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
 

Asset Life 

Buildings 2 to 60 years 
Machinery and equipment 2 to 20 years 
 

Ordinary maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major replacements and improvements are 
capitalized. When properties are retired or otherwise disposed of, the costs of those properties and the related 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheets and the differences between the costs 
of those properties and the related accumulated depreciation are recognized in other operating income (expenses), 
net in the consolidated statements of income. 
 

(7) Leases 
Komatsu has leasing arrangements as a lessee. Komatsu determines if an arrangement is a lease at the inception of 
each contract in accordance with FASB ASC 842, “Leases”. Some of the contracts include lease and non-lease 
components, which are not separated and accounted all components as those of a single lease. Additionally, 
Komatsu has adopted the rule in which an entity does not recognize operating lease right-of-use assets regarding 
operating leases agreement with an initial estimated lease term of twelve months or less. 
Komatsu has leasing arrangements as a lessor. Komatsu determines if an arrangement is a lease at the inception of 
each contract in accordance with FASB ASC 842, “Leases”. 
 

The details are as described in Note 17 “Leases”. 
 

(8) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
Komatsu uses the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. Goodwill is tested for impairment 
at least once annually and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely 
than not reduce the fair value below its carrying amount. Any recognized intangible assets determined to have an 
indefinite useful life are not to be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least once annually and between 
annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value below 
its carrying amount until its useful life is determined to no longer be indefinite. Intangible assets with finite useful 
lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment whenever there is an 
indicator of possible impairment. An impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of an asset or 
an asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or an asset 
group. The amount of the impairment loss to be recorded is determined by the difference between the fair value of 
the asset or an asset group estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation model and carrying value. 
 

(9) Revenue Recognition 
Komatsu recognizes revenue based on the following five steps in accordance with FASB ASC 606, “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers”. 

Step 1: Identify the contracts with a customer 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

 

The details are as described in Note 15 “Revenue”. 
 

Taxes collected from customers and paid to governmental-authorities including consumption taxes are excluded 
from revenue. 
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(10) Income Taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences and carryforwards are 
expected to be realized or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 
If a tax position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the position, 
Komatsu recognizes the benefit of such position in the financial statements. The benefit of the tax position is 
measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement 
with appropriate taxing authority. 
 

(11) Product Warranties 
After the product were sold or delivered, Komatsu repairs and replaces parts free of charge for a certain period in 
accordance with the contract. Thus, in order to provide for disbursement of the after-sales service costs, provision 
for product warranties is recognized based on the relevant historical result and is classified as other current 
liabilities and other liabilities. 
 

(12) Pension and Retirement Benefits 
Komatsu recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of the defined benefit plans as an asset or liability in the 
consolidated balance sheet, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), 
net of tax. 
Amortization of actuarial net gain or loss is included as a component of Komatsu’s net periodic pension cost for 
defined benefit plans for a year if, as of the beginning of the year, that unrecognized net gain or loss exceeds 10 
percent of the greater of (1) the projected benefit obligation or (2) the fair value of that plan’s assets. 
In such case, the amount of amortization recognized is the resulting excess divided by average remaining service 
period of active employees expected to receive benefits under the plan. The expected return on plan assets is 
determined based on the historical long-term rate of return on plan assets. The discount rate is determined based on 
the rates of return of high-quality fixed income investments currently available and expected to be available during 
the period to maturity of the pension benefits. 
 

(13) Share-Based Compensation 
The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense using the fair value method. The compensation 
expense for the stock option plans is measured at grant-date fair value and charged to expense over the vesting 
period. The compensation expense for the restricted stock compensation is expensed over the service period and 
recorded at the expected compensation amount. 
 

(14) Per Share Data 
Basic net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per share has been computed by dividing net income attributable to 
common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during each fiscal year, after 
deducting treasury stock. Diluted net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per share reflects the potential dilution 
computed on the basis that all stock options were exercised (less the number of treasury stock assumed to be 
purchased from proceeds using the average market price of the Company’s common shares) to the extent that each 
is not antidilutive. 
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(15) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the 
date of purchase. 
Komatsu’s overseas subsidiaries participate in a global cash pooling system based on agreement with a single 
financial institution, which is used to fund short-term liquidity needs. This agreement contains specific provisions 
for the right to offset positive and negative cash balances on a global basis. The facility allows for cash withdrawals 
from this financial institution up to our aggregate cash deposits within the same financial institution. Komatsu’s 
consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 reflect cash net of withdrawals of ¥267,138 million and 
¥256,615 million, respectively. 
 

(16) Derivative Financial Instruments 
Komatsu uses various derivative financial instruments to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange exposure. 
All derivatives, including derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, are measured at fair value and 
recognized as either assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. Changes in the fair values of derivative 
instruments not designated or not qualifying as hedges are recognized in earnings in the current period. Changes in 
the fair values of derivative instruments which designated as fair value hedges are recognized in earnings, along 
with changes in the fair value of the hedged item. Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments which 
designated as cash flow hedges are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), and recognized in 
earnings when the hedged item is recognized in earnings. 
 

(17) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of 
Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles to be held and used by Komatsu are reviewed for impairment 
based on a cash flow analysis of the asset or an asset group whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset or an asset group may not be recoverable. The assets to be held for use are 
considered to be impaired when estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and 
their eventual disposition is less than their carrying amounts. The impairment losses are measured as the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the asset or an asset group exceeds the fair value. Long-lived assets and identifiable 
intangibles to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. 
 

(18) Use of Estimates 
Komatsu has made a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses presented in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
Actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions. 
Komatsu has identified several areas where it believes estimates and assumptions are particularly critical to the 
financial statements. These are the determination of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, the allowance 
for doubtful receivables, impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill, pension liabilities and expenses, product 
warranty liabilities, fair value of financial instruments, realization of deferred tax assets, income tax uncertainties 
and other contingencies. The current economic environment has increased the degree of uncertainty inherent in 
those estimates. 
COVID-19 is a crisis broadly impacting the economy and corporate activities, and it could possibly impact 
Komatsu’s financial position and results of operations. Just how COVID-19 will spread from this point forward, or 
when it will be contained, is still unclear. Nevertheless, based on the assumption that the COVID-19-related 
impacts will continue for a length of time in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2021, Komatsu has assessed the 
likelihood of recovery of deferred tax assets and the impairment losses on long-lived assets and goodwill given 
these items are relatively material among the accounting estimates. Komatsu is making its best estimates based on 
the information available. However, if actual future trends deviate from those assumptions, Komatsu’s financial 
position and results of operations may be adversely affected. 
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(19) Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 
In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, Komatsu has adopted the Accounting Standards Update (hereinafter 
“ASU”) 2016-02 “Leases”. This update requires lessees to recognize most leases as the right-of-use assets and the 
lease liabilities on their balance sheets. This update does not substantially change lessor accounting. The FASB also 
modified the definition of lease. Additionally, the guidance expands qualitative and quantitative disclosures related 
to lease. Concerning accounting in relation to this update, Komatsu has adopted the rule in which an entity does not 
separate lease and non-lease components and regards all components as those of a single lease, and the exceptional 
rule in which an entity does not recognize short-term leases on the balance sheet. Concerning the transition 
methods in relation to this update, Komatsu has adopted a series of practical expedients in which an entity does not 
reassess whether any expired or existing lease contracts are or contain leases, the lease classification for them and 
initial direct costs for them. Komatsu has also adopted the additional transition methods in which an entity does not 
retrospectively restate presentation or disclosure of comparative years at the period of the application of the new 
accounting standards and an entity does not assess whether existing or expired land easements that were not 
previously accounted for as leases. The application of the provision has no significant impact on Komatsu’s 
financial position and results of operations. 
In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, Komatsu has adopted ASU 2017-12 “Targeted Improvements to 
Accounting for Hedging Activities”. This update improves the application of hedge accounting under certain 
circumstances to reflect the economic consequences of an entity's risk management activities in financial 
statements more appropriately. The update eliminates the requirement to separately measure and present effective 
portion and ineffective portion of hedging and requires an entity to record the full amount of change in fair value of 
the hedging instrument in the same income statement line as gain or loss arising from the hedged item. The 
application of the provision has no significant impact on Komatsu’s financial position and results of operations. 
 

(20) Recnetly Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 “Financial Instruments — Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments”. This update requires an entity to recognize credit losses for many financial assets 
based on current expected credit loss model instead of existing incurred loss model. The new current expected 
credit loss model requires an entity to immediately recognize estimated credit losses expected to occur over the 
remaining life of the financial assets which are within the scope of this update. For all entities other than SEC filers, 
this update was planned to be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020, including 
interim periods within that reporting period originally. In November 2019, the FASB changed the effective date of 
this update and this update will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022, 
including interim periods within that reporting period. Early adoption is permitted. This update should be adopted 
under the modified-retrospective approach through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings at the 
beginning of the initial application period. Komatsu is currently considering the adoption date and the impact of 
this update on Komatsu’s financial position and results of operations. 
2.  Supplemental Cash Flow Information 
Additional cash flow information for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Additional cash flow information:  

Interest paid ¥ 24,876  ¥ 24,070 
Income taxes paid 89,558  136,348 



－ 13 － 

3.  Business Combination 
Immersive Corporation Pty Ltd 
On July 1, 2019, the Company acquired Immersive Corporation Pty Ltd (hereafter “Immersive”), a mining 
workforce optimization company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company by purchasing all of the 
outstanding shares of Immersive. 
Immersive develops, manufactures and sells mining equipment simulators for training machine operators for 
surface and underground mines. Immersive also offers educational programs designed to enhance the safety and 
productivity of customers’ site operations by using simulators, and provides training solutions designed to promote 
operational optimization by proposing recommendations. 
In April 2019, Komatsu embarked on the new three-year mid-term management plan (FY2019– 2021), 
"DANTOTSU Value － FORWARD Together for Sustainable Growth," working together with its customers to 
achieve safe, highly productive, smart and clean worksites of the future. By integrating Immersive’s solutions into 
its line-up, Komatsu anticipates improvements in safety and productivity, as well as optimization of operations for 
our mining customers. 
The fair value measurement of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities under ASC 805, “Business 
Combinations” was completed as of the issue date of the third quarterly report of  the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2020. 
Following is a summary of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities after the allocation of acquisition cost on the 
acquisition date. 
  

   

 Millions of yen 

Consideration 
Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 15,755 
Fair value of total consideration transferred 15,755 

Recognized amounts of identifiable acquired assets and assumed liabilities  

Current assets ¥ 3,583 
Property, plant and equipment 444 
Intangible assets 8,158 
Other non-current assets 84 

Total acquired assets 12,269 

Current liabilities (1,571)
Long-term liabilities (2,576)

Total assumed liabilities (4,147)

Net acquired assets 8,122 

Goodwill 7,633 

 ¥ 15,755 
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Intangible assets of ¥8,158 million are all intangible assets subject to amortization and primarily consist of the 
following. 
 Millions of yen   

 Gross carrying 

amount 
 Amortization period 

Customer relationships ¥ 2,026   16 years 
Technology assets  5,844   13 years 
 

The goodwill of ¥7,633 million was assigned to the Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment operating 
segment. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purpose. 
Acquisition-related costs for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 are ¥300 million (accumulated acquisition-
related costs: ¥332 million) and included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020． 

Immersive’s results of operations included in the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2020 since the date of acquisition were immaterial. 
Assuming this acquisition had been made on April 1, 2018, the impact on Net Sales and Net income attributable to 
Komatsu Ltd. for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 would be immaterial. 
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4.  Trade Notes and Accounts Receivable 
Receivables at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Trade notes ¥ 230,980  ¥ 229,465 
Accounts receivable 525,181  621,230 
Total 756,161  850,695 
Less: allowance-current (11,766)  (8,512)
Trade notes and accounts receivable, net ¥ 744,395  ¥ 842,183 

Long-term trade receivables 425,974  420,609 
Less: allowance-noncurrent (5,056)  (4,246)
Long-term trade receivables, net ¥ 420,918  ¥ 416,363 

 

Installment and lease receivables (less unearned interest) are included in trade notes and accounts receivable and 
long-term trade receivables. 
 

The roll-forward schedule of the allowance for credit losses of the financing receivables for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 8,004  ¥ 16,330 
Provision 5,071  (1,832)
Charge-offs (3,507)  (6,341)
Other (347)  (153)

Balance at end of year ¥ 9,221  ¥ 8,004 

 

Komatsu considers that financing receivables of retail finance subsidiaries are past due, if unpaid for greater than 
30 days. Cumulative past due financing receivables (31-90 days, greater than 90 days) at March 31, 2020 and 2019 
were summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

31-90 days past due ¥ 1,088  ¥ 1,297 
Greater than 90 days past due 773  1,530 
Total past due ¥ 1,861  ¥ 2,827 

 

Nonaccrual financing receivables at March 31, 2020 and 2019 were not material. 
Komatsu did not have any cash flows from securitization activities from the sale of trade notes and accounts 
receivable for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
Komatsu did not have any securitized trade notes and accounts receivable at March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
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5.  Inventories 
At March 31, 2020 and 2019, inventories comprise the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Finished products, including finished parts held for sale ¥ 586,468  ¥ 594,880 
Work in process 153,082  171,063 
Materials and supplies 65,759  71,609 
Total ¥ 805,309  ¥ 837,552 

6.  Investment Securities 
The realized gains and losses and gross unrealized holding gains and losses related to equity securities which are 
recorded in other income (expenses), net in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for the fiscal 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net gains and losses recognized during the year on equity securities ¥ 97 ¥ (499)
Less: net gains and losses recognized during the year on equity securities 
sold during the year 

(185) 61 

Unrealized gains and losses recognized during the year on equity 
securities still held as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 

¥ 282 ¥ (560)

 

Komatsu measures equity securities without readily determinable fair values by the method where changes in 
observable prices in orderly transactions for identical or similar investments issued by the same issuer are added to 
or subtracted from the carrying amount after the write-down due to impairment, except for investments which are 
measured at net asset value per share. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of these investments 
were ¥7,328 million and ¥7,043 million, respectively. Any impairment or any adjustment relating to observable 
price changes recorded until March 31, 2020 and 2019 were not material. 
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7.  Investments in and Advances to Affiliated Companies 
At March 31, 2020 and 2019, investments in and advances to affiliated companies comprised the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Investments in capital stock ¥ 36,610  ¥ 36,066 
Advances 1,600  1,255 
Total ¥ 38,210  ¥ 37,321 

 

The investments in and advances to affiliated companies relate mainly to 20% to 50% of voting rights owned 
companies whereby Komatsu has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operational and financial 
policies. 
At March 31, 2020 and 2019, trade notes and accounts receivable and short-term loans receivable from and trade 
notes, bills and accounts payable to affiliated companies comprised the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Trade notes and accounts receivable, net ¥ 27,976  ¥ 28,820 
Short-term loans receivable 1,723  1,522 
Trade notes, bills and accounts payable 5,876  7,360 
 

Net sales to and dividends received from affiliated companies for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
are as follows. 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net sales ¥ 81,730  ¥ 78,416 
Dividends 1,399  1,340 
 

Intercompany profits (losses) have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, consolidated unappropriated retained earnings included Komatsu’s share of 
undistributed earnings of affiliated companies accounted for by the equity method in the amount of ¥23,937 million 
and ¥21,412 million, respectively. 
The difference between the carrying value of the investments in affiliated companies and Komatsu’s equity in the 
underlying net assets of such affiliated companies is insignificant as of March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
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Summarized financial information for affiliated companies as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, and for the fiscal years 
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, is as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Current assets ¥ 151,972  ¥ 153,905 
Net property, plant and equipment – less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization 

54,568  54,584 

Investments and other assets 32,342  34,576 
Total assets ¥ 238,882  ¥ 243,065 

Current liabilities ¥ 97,745  ¥ 101,757 
Noncurrent liabilities 36,785  40,623 
Equity 104,352  100,685 
Total liabilities and equity ¥ 238,882  ¥ 243,065 

 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net sales ¥ 236,507  ¥ 237,570 
Net income ¥ 10,276  ¥ 10,336 
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8.  Property, Plant and Equipment 
The major classes of property, plant and equipment at March 31, 2020 and 2019, are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Land ¥ 112,683  ¥ 115,738 
Buildings 512,160  507,987 
Machinery and equipment 660,007  666,364 
Equipment leased to others 335,248  348,616 
Construction in progress 31,909  27,859 
Total 1,652,007  1,666,564 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (894,328)  (890,142)
Net property, plant and equipment ¥ 757,679  ¥ 776,422 

 

After the adoption of ASU 2016-02, Komatsu has reclassified acquisition cost of equipment leased to customers 
under operating leases from Machinery and equipment, etc. to Equipment leased to others. Leased equipment under 
operating leases at fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 also have been reclassified. 
 

Depreciation for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, were ¥111,108 million and ¥110,215 million, 
respectively. 
9.  Pledged Assets 
At March 31, 2020 and 2019, assets pledged as collateral for guarantees for debt are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Other current assets ¥ 211  ¥ 326 
Total ¥ 211  ¥ 326 

 

The above assets were pledged against the following liabilities: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Guarantees for debt ¥ 211  ¥ 326 
Total ¥ 211  ¥ 326 
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10.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets other than goodwill at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 
Gross 

carrying 

amount 

 
Accumulated 

amortization 
 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

 
Gross 

carrying 

amount 

 
Accumulated 

amortization 
 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

Other intangible assets subject to 
amortization: 

     

Software ¥ 52,813  ¥ (21,678)  ¥ 31,135  ¥ 42,798  ¥ (20,030)  ¥ 22,768 
Leasehold 6,959  (1,675)  5,284  8,363  (1,844)  6,519 
Trademarks 52,444  (10,866)  41,578  55,913  (7,832)  48,081 
Customer relationships 73,505  (25,197)  48,308  73,773  (20,752)  53,021 
Technology assets 37,423  (11,950)  25,473  32,030  (9,177)  22,853 
Other 7,292  (4,635)  2,657  7,359  (3,579)  3,780 

Total 230,436  (76,001)  154,435  220,236  (63,214)  157,022 
Other intangible assets not subject 
to amortization 

  7,627    9,384 

Total other intangible assets   ¥ 162,062    ¥ 166,406 

 

The aggregate amortization expense of other intangible assets subject to amortization for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥18,417 million and ¥19,645 million, respectively. 
At March 31, 2020, the future estimated amortization expenses for each of five years relating to intangible assets 
currently recorded in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows: 
 

Year ending March 31 Millions of yen 

2021 ¥ 18,597 
2022 18,259 
2023 16,607 
2024 15,345 
2025 14,073 
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The changes in carrying amounts of goodwill by operating segment for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 
2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 
Construction, 

Mining and Utility 

Equipment 

 Retail Finance  
Industrial 

Machinery and 

Others 

 Total 

Balance at March 31, 2018    

Goodwill 162,502  802  15,017  178,321 
Accumulated impairment losses (8,504)  －  (13,936)  (22,440)

 ¥ 153,998  ¥ 802  ¥ 1,081  ¥ 155,881 
Goodwill acquired during the year 354  －  －  354 
Foreign exchange impact 5,712  (26)  －  5,686 
Balance at March 31, 2019    

Goodwill 168,568  776  15,017  184,361 
Accumulated impairment losses (8,504)  －  (13,936)  (22,440)

 ¥ 160,064  ¥ 776  ¥ 1,081  ¥ 161,921 

Goodwill acquired during the year 11,007  －  －  11,007 
Impairment losses (3,699)  －  －  (3,699)
Foreign exchange impact (11,580)  (128)  －  (11,708)
Balance at March 31, 2020    

Goodwill 167,995  648  15,017  183,660 
Accumulated impairment losses (12,203)  －  (13,936)  (26,139)

 ¥ 155,792  ¥ 648  ¥ 1,081  ¥ 157,521 
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11.  Short-Term and Long-Term Debt 
(1) Short-term debt at March 31, 2020 and 2019, consisted of the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Banks, insurance companies and other financial institutions ¥ 178,733  ¥ 196,779 
Commercial paper 304,925  207,880 
Short-term debt ¥ 483,658  ¥ 404,659 

 

The weighted-average annual interest rates applicable to short-term debt outstanding at March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
were 1.9% and 2.2%, respectively. 
Certain consolidated subsidiaries have entered into contracts for committed credit lines totaling ¥133,945 million 
and have unused committed lines of credit amounting to ¥112,135 million with certain financial institutions at 
March 31, 2020, which are available for full and immediate borrowings. The Company and Komatsu Finance 
America Inc. are a party to a committed ¥300,000 million and U.S.$1,000 million commercial paper program and 
unused committed commercial paper program amounting to ¥93,000 million and U.S.$100 million at March 31, 
2020, are available upon the satisfaction of certain customary procedural requirements. 
 

(2) Long-term debt at March 31, 2020 and 2019, consisted of the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Long-term debt without collateral:  

Banks, insurance companies and other financial institutions 
  maturing serially through 2020–2025, weighted-average rate 2.6% 

¥ 268,356  ¥ 254,496 

Euro Medium-Term Notes 
  maturing serially through 2020–2024, weighted-average rate 3.0% 

102,845  111,101 

0.28% Unsecured Bonds due 2019 －  20,000 
0.05% Unsecured Bonds due 2020 50,000  50,000 
2.12% Unsecured Bonds due 2020 32,638  33,291 
2.44% Unsecured Bonds due 2022 54,323  55,417 
0.11% Unsecured Bonds due 2024 20,000  － 

Other 558  1,736 
Total 528,720  526,041 
Less: current maturities (118,880)  (53,556)
Long-term debt ¥ 409,840  ¥ 472,485 

 

(3) The Company, Komatsu Finance America Inc. and Komatsu Europe Coordination Center N.V. registered as an 
issuer under the Euro Medium-Term Note (hereinafter “EMTN”) Program on the London Stock Exchange. The 
registered amount of the EMTN Program at March 31, 2020 and 2019 were U.S.$1,500 million and U.S.$2,000 
million respectively. 
Under the EMTN Program, each of the issuers may from time to time issue notes denominated in any currency as 
may be agreed between the relevant issuers and dealers. The issuers under the EMTN Program issued ¥2,989 
million during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, while they did not issue any EMTNs during the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2019. 
In November 2018, the Company’s bond program was renewed so that it could issue up to ¥100,000 million of 
variable-term bonds within a two-year period. As of March 31, 2020, ¥80,000 million remained unused under this 
program. In September 2017, the Komatsu Finance America Inc. issued U.S.$800 million of variable-term bonds 
within a three-year or a five-year period. On the other hand, ¥50,000 million in the aggregate principal amount of 
bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2020 was issued under the past bond program prior to its 2018 renewal. 
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(4) As is customary in Japan, substantially all long-term and short-term bank loans are made under general 
agreements. 
 

(5) Maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively are as follows. There are no market value 
adjustments excluded from the amount of 2020 and 2019. 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Due within one year ¥ 118,880  ¥ 53,556 
Due after one year through two years 102,080  117,435 
Due after two years through three years 221,213  83,171 
Due after three years through four years 12,218  216,784 
Due after four years through five years 74,329  12,568 
Due after five years －  42,527 
Total ¥ 528,720  ¥ 526,041 
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12.  Liability for Pension and Other Retirement Benefits 
The Company’s employees, with certain minor exceptions, are covered by a severance payment and a defined 
benefit cash balance pension plan. The plan provides that approximately 60% of the employee benefits are payable 
as a pension payment, commencing upon retirement at age 60 (mandatory retirement age) and that the remaining 
benefits are payable as a lump-sum severance payment based on remuneration, years of service and certain other 
factors at the time of retirement. The plan also provides for lump-sum severance payments, payable upon earlier 
termination of employment. 
Under the cash balance pension plan, each employee has an account which is credited yearly based on the current 
rate of pay and market-related interest rate. 
Certain subsidiaries have various funded pension plans and/or unfunded severance payment plans for their 
employees, which are based on years of service and certain other factors. Komatsu’s funding policy is to contribute 
the amounts to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in 
the future. 
 

The reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligations and the fair value of the plan assets 
of the defined benefit plans are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Change in benefit obligations:    

Benefit obligations, beginning of year ¥ 135,947  ¥ 234,821  ¥ 132,473  ¥ 237,054 
Service cost 8,400  988  8,022  1,006 
Interest cost 79  6,922  90  7,536 
Actuarial loss (gain) (574)  1,397  440  1,772 
Plan participants’ contributions －  162  －  145 
Effect of changes in consolidated 
subsidiaries 

－  －  105  － 

Plan amendment 1,329  －  931  1,727 
Settlements －  (1,637)  －  (238)
Benefits paid (6,618)  (12,821)  (6,114)  (16,529)
Foreign currency exchange rate change －  (10,314)  －  2,348 
Benefit obligations, end of year ¥ 138,563  ¥ 219,518  ¥ 135,947  ¥ 234,821 

Change in plan assets:    

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of 
year 

¥ 82,257  ¥ 216,623  ¥ 81,604  ¥ 219,024 

Actual return on plan assets (775)  8,631  739  10,005 
Employers’ contributions 3,707  1,893  3,630  2,164 
Plan participants’ contributions －  162  －  145 
Plan amendment 984  －  －  － 

Settlements －  (1,637)  －  (284)
Benefits paid (3,871)  (12,493)  (3,716)  (16,257)
Foreign currency exchange rate change －  (10,160)  －  1,826 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year ¥ 82,302  ¥ 203,019  ¥ 82,257  ¥ 216,623 

Funded status, end of year ¥ (56,261)  ¥ (16,499)  ¥ (53,690)  ¥ (18,198)
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Deferred income taxes and other assets ¥ －  ¥ 16,930  ¥ －  ¥ 11,288 
Other current liabilities (146)  (607)  (136)  (639)
Liability for pension and retirement benefits (56,115)  (32,822)  (53,554)  (28,847)
 ¥ (56,261)  ¥ (16,499)  ¥ (53,690)  ¥ (18,198)

 

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Actuarial loss ¥ 24,641  ¥ 16,665  ¥ 24,255  ¥ 14,150 
Prior service cost 1,512  909  1,342  1,043 
 ¥ 26,153  ¥ 17,574  ¥ 25,597  ¥ 15,193 

 

The accumulated benefit obligations for all defined benefit plans at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Accumulated benefit obligations ¥ 123,630  ¥ 216,445  ¥ 120,233  ¥ 231,497 
 

Information for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets and pension plans with 
projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets is as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Plans with accumulated benefit obligations in 
excess of plan assets: 

   

Accumulated benefit obligations ¥ 122,514  ¥ 126,785  ¥ 119,215  ¥ 187,869 
Fair value of plan assets 80,988  95,535  77,382  160,956 

Plans with projected benefit obligations in 
excess of plan assets: 

   

Projected benefit obligations ¥ 138,563  ¥ 129,179  ¥ 135,947  ¥ 192,168 
Fair value of plan assets 82,302  95,750  82,257  162,683 
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Net periodic cost of Komatsu’s defined benefit plans for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, consisted 
of the following components: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Service cost ¥ 8,400  ¥ 988  ¥ 8,022  ¥ 1,006 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligations 79  6,922  90  7,536 
Expected return on plan assets (1,236)  (9,692)  (1,222)  (10,979)
Amortization of actuarial loss or gain 1,051  (57)  1,231  162 
Amortization of prior service cost 175  134  167  43 
Net periodic cost ¥ 8,469  ¥ (1,705)  ¥ 8,288  ¥ (2,232)

 

Net periodic cost components other than the service cost are recorded in other income (expenses), net in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income. 
 

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) for the fiscal 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Current year actuarial loss ¥ 1,437  ¥ 2,458  ¥ 923  ¥ 2,746 
Amortization of actuarial loss or gain (1,051)  57  (1,231)  (162)
Current year prior service cost 345  －  931  1,727 
Amortization of prior service cost (175)  (134)  (167)  (43)
 ¥ 556  ¥ 2,381  ¥ 456  ¥ 4,268 

 

The estimated actuarial loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit plans that will be amortized from 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into net periodic cost for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2021 are 
summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 Domestic  Overseas 

Amortization of actuarial loss or gain ¥ 1,054  ¥ 341 
Amortization of prior service cost 145  238 
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations of Komatsu’s defined benefit plans at March 
31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Discount rate 0.1%  3.1%  0.1%  3.4% 

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels (Point-based benefit 
system) 

4.5%  －  4.5%  －

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 2.6%  3.1%  2.6%  3.8% 

 

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic cost of Komatsu’s defined benefit plans for the fiscal 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 

 Domestic  Overseas  Domestic  Overseas 

Discount rate 0.1% 3.4% 0.1% 3.5% 

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels (Point-based benefit 
system) 

4.5%  －  4.5%  －

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 2.6% 3.8% 2.6% 3.6% 

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 1.5% 4.6% 1.5% 5.1% 

 

The Company and certain Japanese subsidiaries have defined benefit cash balance pension plans. These companies 
adopt the assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels under the point-based benefit system. 
Komatsu determines the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets based on the consideration of the current 
expectations for future returns and actual historical returns of each plan asset category. 
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Plan assets 
In order to secure long-term comprehensive earnings, Komatsu’s investment policy is designed to ensure adequate 
plan assets to provide future payments of pension benefits to eligible participants. Taking into account the expected 
long-term rate of return on plan assets, Komatsu formulates a basic portfolio comprised of the judged optimum 
combination of equity and debt securities. Plan assets are principally invested in equity securities, debt securities 
and life insurance company general accounts in accordance with the guidelines of the basic portfolio in order to 
produce a total return that will match the expected return on a mid-term to long-term basis. Komatsu evaluates the 
gap between expected return and actual return of invested plan assets on an annual basis to determine if such 
differences necessitate a revision in the formulation of the basic portfolio. Komatsu revises the basic portfolio when 
and to the extent considered necessary to achieve the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. 
The “Pension and Retirement Benefit Committee” is organized in the Company in order to periodically monitor the 
performance of such plan assets. 
The Company and its Japanese subsidiaries’ targeted basic portfolio for plan assets consists of three major 
components: approximately 20% invested in equity securities, approximately 30% invested in debt securities, and 
approximately 50% invested in other assets, primarily consisting of investments in life insurance company general 
accounts. Foreign subsidiaries’ targeted basic portfolio for plan assets, which varies by country, primarily consists 
of as follows: approximately 35% invested in equity securities and approximately 65% invested in debt securities. 
The equity securities are selected primarily from stocks that are listed on the securities exchanges. Prior to 
investing, Komatsu has investigated the business condition of the investee companies, and appropriately diversified 
investments by type of industry and other relevant factors. The debt securities are selected primarily from 
government bonds and municipal bonds, and corporate bonds. Prior to investing, Komatsu has investigated the 
quality of the issue, including credit rating, interest rate and repayment dates, and has appropriately diversified the 
investments. Pooled funds are selected using strategies consistent with the equity described above. As for 
investments in life insurance company general accounts, the contracts with the insurance companies include a 
guaranteed interest rate and return of capital. With respect to investments in foreign investment assets, Komatsu has 
investigated the stability of the underlying governments and economies, the market characteristics such as 
settlement systems and the taxation systems. For each such investment, Komatsu has selected the appropriate 
investment country and currency. There is no significant concentration of risk within the portfolio of investments. 
The three levels of input used to measure fair value are more fully described in Note 22. 
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The fair values of benefit plan assets at March 31, 2020 and 2019 by asset class are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 Domestic  Overseas 

At March 31, 2020 

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Investments 

measured at 

net asset 

value 

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Investments 

measured at 

net asset 

value 

 Total 

Plan assets         

Cash ¥ 396  ¥ －  ¥ － ¥ －  ¥ 396  ¥ (2,841) ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ (2,841)

Equity securities         

Japanese equities 7,379  －  － －  7,379  794  －  －  －  794 

Foreign equities 5,869  －  － 565  6,434  8,438  37,040  －  30  45,508 

Pooled funds －  －  － －  －  55  －  －  －  55 

Debt securities         

Government bonds and municipal bonds 22,100  151  － －  22,251  123  43,802  －  －  43,925 

Corporate bonds 228  3,418  － －  3,646  －  97,175  1,721  －  98,896 

Other assets         

Life insurance company general 

accounts 
－  36,982  － －  36,982  －  －  －  －  － 

Other 641  452  1,050 3,071  5,214  1,188  5,000  10,494  －  16,682 

Total ¥ 36,613  ¥ 41,003  ¥ 1,050 ¥ 3,636  ¥ 82,302  ¥ 7,757  ¥ 183,017  ¥ 12,215  ¥ 30  ¥ 203,019 

 
 Millions of yen 

 Domestic  Overseas 

At March 31, 2019 

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Investments 

measured at 

net asset 

value 

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Investments 

measured at 

net asset 

value 

 Total 

Plan assets         

Cash ¥ 340  ¥ －  ¥ － ¥ －  ¥ 340  ¥ (1,328) ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ (1,328)

Equity securities         

Japanese equities 10,938  －  － －  10,938  810  －  －  －  810 

Foreign equities 8,887  －  － －  8,887  11,343  38,923  －  30  50,296 

Pooled funds －  －  － －  －  73  819  －  －  892 

Debt securities         

Government bonds and municipal bonds 18,554  －  － －  18,554  167  44,039  －  －  44,206 

Corporate bonds －  7,028  － －  7,028  －  103,571  －  －  103,571 

Other assets         

Life insurance company general 

accounts 
－  36,510  － －  36,510  －  －  －  －  － 

Other －  －  － －  －  1,208  4,607  12,361  －  18,176 

Total ¥ 38,719  ¥ 43,538  ¥ － ¥ －  ¥ 82,257  ¥ 12,273  ¥ 191,959  ¥ 12,361  ¥ 30  ¥ 216,623 

 

(1) The plan’s equity securities include common stock of the Company in the amount of ¥12 million and ¥47 
million at March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
(2) The plan’s pooled funds which are primarily held by the U.K. subsidiaries invest in hedge funds. 
(3) The plan’s government bonds and municipal bonds include approximately 10% Japanese bonds and 90% 
foreign bonds. 
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Each level into which assets are categorized is based on inputs used to measure the fair value of the assets, and 
does not indicate the risks of the assets. 
 

Level 1 assets are comprised principally of equity and debt securities, which are valued using quoted prices in 
active markets. Level 2 assets are comprised of equity securities, debt securities and investments in life insurance 
company general accounts. Equity and debt securities are valued using inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly. Investments in life 
insurance company general accounts are valued at conversion value. 
The fair value of Level 3 assets mainly consist of the U.K. buy-in contracts held by foreign subsidiaries. The 
amount of these buy-in contracts are ¥10,494 million and ¥12,361 million at March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. These buy-in contracts are categorized as Level 3 due to the lack of active markets for these types of 
investments and the use of unobservable measurement inputs. Amounts of actual returns on, purchases and sales of, 
these buy-in contracts for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are not material. 
Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) practical 
expedient have not been classified in the three-level fair value hierarchy but have been recorded separately. 
 

Cash flows 
(1) Contributions 
Komatsu expects to contribute ¥3,637 million and ¥1,309 million to their domestic benefit plans and their 
overseas benefit plans, respectively in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2021. 
 

(2) Estimated future benefit payments 
The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five years, and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter 
which reflect estimated future employee service are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

Fiscal year ending March 31 Domestic  Overseas 

2021 ¥ 7,265  ¥ 11,908 
2022 7,442  11,937 
2023 9,358  12,006 
2024 8,219  12,004 
2025 7,395  11,989 
Through 2026-2030 38,634  58,770 
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Other postretirement benefit plans 
Some U.S. subsidiaries provide certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits for substantially all of 
their employees. The plans are contributory, with contributions indexed to salary levels. Employee contributions 
are adjusted to provide for any costs of the plans in excess of those paid for by the subsidiaries. The policy is to 
fund the cost of these benefits as claims and premiums are paid. In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008 certain 
U.S. subsidiaries established a Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary Association (“VEBA”) trust to hold assets and 
pay substantially all of these subsidiaries’ self-funded post employment benefit plan obligations. The VEBA trust 
arrangement provides for segregation and legal restriction of the plan assets to satisfy plan obligations, and tax 
deductibility for contributions to the trust, subject to certain tax code limitations. 
 

The reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligations and the 
fair value of the plan assets of the U.S. subsidiaries’ plans are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligations:  

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligations, beginning of year ¥ 16,537  ¥ 16,161 
Service cost 558  537 
Interest cost 562  587 
Actuarial loss (gain) (328)  (755)
Plan amendment (1,157)  － 

Benefits paid (828)  (912)
Foreign currency exchange rate change (184)  919 
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, end of year ¥ 15,160  ¥ 16,537 

Change in plan assets:  

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year ¥ 11,019  ¥ 10,622 
Actual return on plan assets (36)  379 
Employers’ contributions 153  87 
Benefits paid (504)  (548)
Foreign currency exchange rate change (226)  479 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year ¥ 10,406  ¥ 11,019 

Funded status, end of year ¥ (4,754)  ¥ (5,518)

 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Deferred income taxes and other assets ¥ 2,446  ¥ 2,049 
Other current liabilities (190)  (207)
Liability for pension and retirement benefits (7,010)  (7,360)
 ¥ (4,754)  ¥ (5,518)
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Actuarial loss ¥ 1,426  ¥ 1,174 
Prior service cost (1,149)  14 
 ¥ 277  ¥ 1,188 

 

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligations exceed plan assets for most of the U.S. subsidiaries’ plans. 
 

Net periodic cost of the U.S. subsidiaries’ plans for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 included the 
following components: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Service cost ¥ 558  ¥ 537 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligations 562  587 
Expected return on plan assets (583)  (596)
Amortization of actuarial loss or gain 39  101 
Amortization of prior service cost 6  6 
Net periodic cost ¥ 582  ¥ 635 

 

Net periodic cost components other than the service cost are recorded in other income (expenses), net in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income. 
 

Other changes in plan assets and accumulated postretirement benefit obligations recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Current year actuarial loss (gain) ¥ 291  ¥ (538)
Amortization of actuarial loss or gain (39)  (101)
Current year prior service cost (1,157)  － 

Amortization of prior service cost (6)  (6)
 ¥ (911)  ¥ (645)

 

The estimated actuarial loss and prior service cost for the postretirement benefit plans that will be amortized from 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into net periodic cost for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2021 are 
summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

Amortization of actuarial loss or gain ¥ 74 
Amortization of prior service cost (121)
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine accumulated postretirement benefit obligations of the U.S. 
subsidiaries’ plans at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 

Discount rate 3.3%  3.9% 

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 4.0%  4.0% 

Current healthcare cost trend rate 6.3%  6.5% 

Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 4.9%  5.0% 

Number of years to reach ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 5  4 
 

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic cost of the U.S. subsidiaries’ plans for the fiscal 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 

Discount rate 3.9%  3.9% 

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 4.0%  4.0% 

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 5.6%  5.6% 

Current healthcare cost trend rate 6.5%  6.2% 

Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 5.0%  5.0% 

Number of years to reach ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 4  5 
 

At March 31, 2020 and 2019, the impact of one percentage point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates 
would not be material to Komatsu’s financial position and results of operations. 
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Plan assets 
The U.S. subsidiaries’ investment policies are to provide returns that will maximize principal growth while 
accepting only moderate risk. 
The U.S. subsidiaries’ asset portfolio will be invested in a manner that emphasizes safety of capital while achieving 
total returns consistent with prudent levels of risk. The basic portfolio for the plan assets are comprised 
approximately of 35% equity securities and 65% debt securities. 
The equity securities are selected primarily from stocks that are listed on the securities exchanges. Prior to 
investing, the U.S. subsidiaries have investigated the business condition of the invested companies, and 
appropriately diversified investments by type of industry and other relevant factors. The debt securities are selected 
primarily from government bonds and municipal bonds, and corporate bonds. Prior to investing, the U.S. 
subsidiaries have investigated the quality of the issue, including credit rating, interest rate and repayment dates, and 
have appropriately diversified the investments. Pooled funds are selected using strategies consistent with the equity 
described above. There is no significant concentration of risk within the portfolio of investments. 
The three levels of input used to measure fair value are more fully described in Note 22. 
The fair values of postretirement benefit plan assets at March 31, 2020 and 2019, by asset class are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

At March 31, 2020 

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Investments 

measured at net 

asset value 

 Total 

Plan assets    

Cash ¥ 526  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ － ¥ 526 
Equity securities    

Foreign equities 3,493  －  －  － 3,493 
Pooled funds －  －  －  － － 

Debt securities    

Government bonds and municipal bonds －  4,126  －  － 4,126 
Corporate bonds 503  1,490  －  － 1,993 

Other assets    

Other －  268  －  － 268 
Total ¥ 4,522  ¥ 5,884  ¥ －  ¥ － ¥ 10,406 

 

 Millions of yen 

At March 31, 2019 

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Investments 

measured at net 

asset value 

 Total 

Plan assets    

Cash ¥ 543  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ － ¥ 543 
Equity securities    

Foreign equities 2,009  －  －  － 2,009 
Pooled funds 2,296  －  －  － 2,296 

Debt securities    

Government bonds and municipal bonds 1,272  2,976  －  － 4,248 
Corporate bonds －  1,923  －  － 1,923 

Other assets    

Other －  －  －  － － 

Total ¥ 6,120  ¥ 4,899  ¥ －  ¥ － ¥ 11,019 

 

(1) The plan’s pooled funds include listed foreign equity securities primarily consisting of U.S. equity. 
(2) The plan’s government bonds consist of U.S. government bonds. 
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Each level into which assets are categorized is based on inputs used to measure the fair value of the assets, and 
does not indicate the risks of the assets. 
 

Level 1 assets are comprised principally of equity securities, which are valued using quoted prices in active 
markets. Level 2 assets are comprised of debt securities, which are valued using inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly. 
 

Cash flows 
(1) Contributions 
The U.S. subsidiaries will not expect to contribute to their postretirement benefit plans in the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2021. 
 

(2) Estimated future benefit payments 
The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five years, and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter 
which reflect estimated future employee service are as follows: 
 
Fiscal year ending March 31 Millions of yen 

2021 ¥ 897 
2022 899 
2023 896 
2024 872 
2025 849 
Through 2026-2030 4,164 
 

Directors of Japanese subsidiaries are primarily covered by unfunded retirement allowance plans. At March 31, 
2020 and 2019, the amounts required if all directors covered by the plans had terminated their service have been 
fully accrued. Such amounts are not material to Komatsu’s financial position and results of operations for any of 
the periods presented. 
Certain subsidiaries maintain various defined contribution plans covering certain employees. The amount of cost 
recognized for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are ¥10,180 million and ¥8,353 million, 
respectively. 
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13.  Komatsu Ltd. Shareholders’ Equity 
(1)At March 31, 2020 and 2019, affiliated companies owned 824,200 and 843,600 shares which represent 0.09% 
and 0.09% of the Company’s common shares outstanding, respectively. 
(2)The Companies Act of Japan (hereinafter “the Act”) imposes certain limitations on the amount of retained 
earnings available for dividends. Accordingly, total shareholders’ equity of ¥597,728 million, included in the 
Company’s general books of account as of March 31, 2020 is available for dividends under the Act. 
The payment of a cash dividend totaling ¥36,859 million to shareholders of record on March 31, 2020 was 
resolved at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on June 18, 2020. The dividend has not been 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2020. Dividends are reported in the consolidated 
statements of equity when they are approved. 
(3)The Company had a stock option plan as stock-based remuneration. 
 

The stock option plans resolved by the meeting of the Board of Directors held in and after July 2010. 
The right to purchase the Company’s shares is granted at an exercise price of ¥1 per share to directors and certain 
employees, and certain representative directors of major subsidiaries. 
Based on the resolutions of the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 23, 2010 and the Board of 
Directors on July 13, 2017, the Company issued 281 rights of its Stock Acquisition Rights to directors. Based on 
the resolutions of the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 20, 2017 and the Board of Directors on 
July 13, 2017, the Company also issued 1,716 rights of its Stock Acquisition Rights to certain employees and 
certain representative directors of major subsidiaries during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2018. The options vest 
100% on each of the grant dates and are exercisable from August 1, 2020. 
The number of shares subject to one Stock Acquisition Right is 100 shares. 
 

The Company transfers treasury stock without issuance of new stock when the Stock Acquisition Rights are 
exercised. 
The following table summarizes information about stock option activities for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 
and 2019: 
 

 2020  2019 

  
Number 

of shares 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
  

Number 

of shares 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

  Yen   Yen 

Outstanding at beginning of year 892,300  ¥ 1  1,227,000  ¥ 1 
Granted －  －  －  － 

Exercised (414,000)  1  (334,700)  1 
Forfeited －  －  －  － 

Outstanding at end of year 478,300  1  892,300  1 

Exercisable at end of year 278,600  1  442,500  1 
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The intrinsic values of options exercised were ¥912 million and ¥1,010 million for the fiscal years ended March 
31, 2020 and 2019. 
The information for options outstanding and options exercisable at March 31, 2020 is as follows: 
 

Outstanding  Options Exercisable 

 

 

Number 

of shares 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
 Intrinsic value  

Weighted average 

remaining contractual life 
 

 

 

Number 

of shares 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
 Intrinsic value  

Weighted average 

remaining contractual life 

 Yen  
Millions 

of yen 
 Years   Yen  

Millions 

of yen 
 Years 

478,300  ¥ 1  ¥ 850  4.1  278,600  ¥ 1  ¥ 495  3.3 

 

(4)From the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, the Company has introduced a new compensation plan, i.e., the 
restricted stock compensation system for the purpose of providing directors (other than outside directors) and 
employees of the Company and directors and employees of major subsidiaries (hereinafter the “Eligible Directors, 
etc.”) with medium- to long-term incentives and advancing the sharing of value between the directors and 
shareholders of the Company. The system is comprised of the following two compensation systems: 
 

Stock-Based Remuneration A (Performance-Based Remuneration for a Single Year) 
As an alternative to stock acquisition rights which have been granted as stock-based remuneration, the Company 
shall determine the amount of remuneration based on the Company’s single-year performance, etc. and pay a part 
of the amount of remuneration so determined in the form of restricted stock to the Eligible Directors, etc. each 
fiscal year. The restrictions will, in principle, be lifted 3 years after the grant of the granted shares. If, prior to the 
expiry of the restriction period, the Eligible Director, etc. retires without any reason recognized as legitimate by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, the Company shall acquire, free of charge, all or part of the granted shares. 
 

Stock-Based Remuneration B (Performance-Based Remuneration Linked to Performance of Mid-Range 
Management Plan) 
With respect to the period of the Company’s mid-range management plan, the Company shall grant restricted stock 
to the Eligible Directors, etc. each fiscal year based on the base amount of remuneration for each position. After the 
expiry of the period of the mid-range management plan, the Company shall determine the number of shares with 
respect to which the restrictions will be lifted according to the achievement status of the targets raised in the mid-
range management plan, etc. In principle, the Company shall lift the restrictions 3 years after the grant of the 
granted shares. The Company shall acquire, free of charge, the granted shares with respect to which the Company 
decides not to lift the restrictions pursuant to the above provision. If, prior to the expiry of the restriction period, the 
Eligible Director, etc. retires without any reason recognized as legitimate by the Board of Directors of the Company, 
the Company shall acquire, free of charge, all or part of the granted shares. 



－ 38 － 

The granted shares have the same rights as common shares to net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. regardless of 
whether the restrictions are still existing. 
Based on the resolutions of the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 19, 2018 and the Board of 
Directors on July 12, 2019, the Company issued 328,770 shares of common shares of the Company as the restricted 
stock compensation to the Eligible Directors, etc. 
Based on the resolutions of the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 19, 2018 and the Board of 
Directors on July 12, 2018, the Company issued 284,800 shares of common shares of the Company as the restricted 
stock compensation to the Eligible Directors, etc. 
The Company recognizes compensation expense using the fair value method. The fair values of the restricted stock 
are measured at grant-date fair value of common shares of the Company. Compensation expense for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses, and were not 
material to Komatsu’s financial position and results of operations. 
 

The following table summarizes information about the restrict stock activities for the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019: 
 

 2020  2019 

  
Number 

of shares 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
  

Number 

of shares 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

 Yen  Yen 

Outstanding at beginning of year 281,660  ¥ 3,098  －  ¥ － 

Granted 328,770  2,508  284,800  3,098 
Lifted －  －  －  － 

Forfeited (21,980)  3,098  (3,140)  3,098 
Outstanding at end of year 588,450  2,768  281,660  3,098 
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14.  Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

 

 
Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

 

Net unrealized 
holding 

gains(losses) on 
securities 

available for sale 

 

 

 
Pension 
liability 

adjustments 

 

Net unrealized 
holding gains 

(losses) 
on derivative 
instruments 

 

 

 

 

 
Total 

Balance, beginning of the year ¥ (15,438)  ¥ －  ¥ (25,890)  ¥ 1,536 ¥ (39,792)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications (95,102)  －  (2,061)  94 (97,069)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss) 164  －  965  (1,486) (357)

Net other comprehensive income (loss) (94,938)  －  (1,096)  (1,392) (97,426)
Less: other comprehensive income (loss) 
attributable to noncontrolling interests (6,430)  －  (10)  (141) (6,581)
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable 
to Komatsu Ltd. (88,508)  －  (1,086)  (1,251) (90,845)
Equity transactions with noncontrolling 
interests (29)  －  －  － (29)
Balance, end of the year ¥(103,975)  ¥ －  ¥ (26,976)  ¥ 285 ¥(130,666)

 

All amounts are net of tax. 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2019 

 

 
Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

 

Net unrealized 
holding 

gains(losses) on 
securities 

available for sale 

 

 

 
Pension 
liability 

adjustments 

 

Net unrealized 
holding gains 

(losses) 
on derivative 
instruments 

 

 

 

 

 
Total 

Balance, beginning of the year ¥ (10,166)  ¥ 681  ¥ (22,745)  ¥ 3,080 ¥ (29,150)
Cumulative effects of Accounting Standards 
Update—adoption of ASU 2016-01, net of tax －  (681)  －  － (681)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications (3,395)  －  (4,309)  (4,401) (12,105)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss) 22  －  1,171  2,725 3,918 

Net other comprehensive income (loss) (3,373)  －  (3,138)  (1,676) (8,187)
Less: other comprehensive income (loss) 
attributable to noncontrolling interests (175)  －  35  (132) (272)
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable 
to Komatsu Ltd. (3,198)  －  (3,173)  (1,544) (7,915)
Equity transactions with noncontrolling 
interests (2,074)  －  28  － (2,046)
Balance, end of the year ¥ (15,438)  ¥ －  ¥ (25,890)  ¥ 1,536 ¥ (39,792)

 

All amounts are net of tax.
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Reclassification out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 
and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen   

 2020  
Affected line items in 

consolidated statements of income 

Foreign currency translation adjustments   

Liquidation and sale ¥ (164)  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 
 (164)  Total before tax 
 －  Income taxes 
 (164)  Net of tax 
Pension liability adjustments   

Amortization of actuarial loss or gain (1,033)  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 
Amortization of prior service cost (315)  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 

 (1,348)  Total before tax 
 383  Income taxes 
 (965)  Net of tax 
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on derivative 
instruments 

  

Forwards contracts 1,725  Net sales 
 (211)  Cost of sales 
 333  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 
 1,847  Total before tax 

 (361)  Income taxes 
 1,486  Net of tax 
Total reclassification for the year ¥ 357  Net of tax 

  
 Millions of yen   

 2019  
Affected line items in 

consolidated statements of income 

Foreign currency translation adjustments   

Liquidation and sale ¥ (22)  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 
 (22)  Total before tax 
 －  Income taxes 
 (22)  Net of tax 
Pension liability adjustments   

Amortization of actuarial loss or gain (1,494)  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 
Amortization of prior service cost (216)  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 

 (1,710)  Total before tax 
 539  Income taxes 
 (1,171)  Net of tax 
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on derivative 
instruments 

  

Forwards contracts (3,485)  Other income (expenses), net: Other, net 
 (3,485)  Total before tax 
 760  Income taxes 
 (2,725)  Net of tax 
Total reclassification for the year ¥ (3,918)  Net of tax 
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Tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive income (loss) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

 
Before tax 

amount 
 

Tax (expense) 

or benefit 
 

Net of tax 

amount 

Foreign currency translation adjustments   

Foreign currency translation adjustments arising during the 
year 

¥ (95,128) ¥ 26  ¥ (95,102)

Less: reclassification adjustment for losses included in net 
income 

164  －  164 

Net foreign currency translation adjustments (94,964) 26  (94,938)
Pension liability adjustments   

Pension liability adjustments arising during the year (3,374) 1,313  (2,061)
Less: reclassification adjustment for losses included in net 
income 

1,348  (383)  965 

Net pension liability adjustments (2,026) 930  (1,096)
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on derivative instruments   

Unrealized holding gains arising during the year 639  (545)  94 
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in net 
income 

(1,847) 361  (1,486)

Net unrealized holding losses (1,208) (184)  (1,392)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ¥ (98,198) ¥ 772  ¥ (97,426)

 

 Millions of yen 

 2019 

 
Before tax 

amount 
 

Tax (expense) 

or benefit 
 

Net of tax 

amount 

Foreign currency translation adjustments   

Foreign currency translation adjustments arising during the 
year 

¥ (3,401) ¥ 6  ¥ (3,395)

Less: reclassification adjustment for losses included in net 
income 

22  －  22 

Net foreign currency translation adjustments (3,379) 6  (3,373)
Pension liability adjustments   

Pension liability adjustments arising during the year (5,790) 1,481  (4,309)
Less: reclassification adjustment for losses included in net 
income 

1,710  (539)  1,171 

Net pension liability adjustments (4,080) 942  (3,138)
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on derivative instruments   

Unrealized holding losses arising during the year (5,895) 1,494  (4,401)
Less: reclassification adjustment for losses included in net 
income 

3,485  (760)  2,725 

Net unrealized holding losses (2,410) 734  (1,676)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ¥ (9,869) ¥ 1,682  ¥ (8,187)
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15.  Revenue 
Komatsu engages in the business activities of sales of products, services and retail financing for customers in Japan 
and overseas, under three operating segments: the “Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment” operating 
segment, the “Retail Finance” operating segment and the “Industrial Machinery and Others” operating segment. In 
these business activities, Komatsu provides goods or services identified in contracts with customers. Komatsu 
recognizes revenue when or as control over these goods or services is transferred to the customer at the amount of 
the transaction price that reflects the consideration to which it expects to be entitled. When two or more goods or 
services are provided to the same customer, Komatsu identifies performance obligations in a single contract or 
combined contracts and allocates the transaction price to each identified performance obligations based on relative 
stand-alone selling prices. 
For sale of equipment, parts, attachment and others, revenue is recognized when the customers accept the goods or 
services. Conditions for acceptance, such as shipping, receipt by customers, completion of installation or 
completion of performance test, depend on contracts or arrangements with customers and the like. The 
consideration for those transactions is generally collected within three months after the performance obligation is 
satisfied. 
For services such as periodic check, maintenance, and repair and other services, revenue is recognized when 
provision of the service is completed, or over the period for which the service is provided. Conditions for 
completion of service provision, including receipt of completion report, depend on contracts or arrangements with 
customers and the like. The consideration for those transactions is generally collected within three months after the 
performance obligation is satisfied. 
 

Komatsu’s certain consolidated subsidiaries have signed long-term maintenance contracts with their customers, in 
which case the customers receive services and simultaneously consume them as the performance obligations are 
satisfied. Thus, revenue from such services is recognized over the period of the contract with the customer in 
accordance with the progress percentage on the basis of costs incurred, which appropriately represents the transfer 
of control to the customer. 
 

Shipping and handling activities occurring after control over an equipment has transferred to a customer are not 
identified as services. 
 

Certain transaction prices include variable consideration such as future discounts and sales returns. Variable 
consideration is an estimate of the expected value or the most likely amount, to the extent that it is probable that a 
significant reversal in cumulative revenue recognized up to that point will not occur when the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. When the period between when control over 
goods or services is transferred to the customer and when the customer pays for the goods or services is expected to 
be one year or less at the inception of the contract, Komatsu does not make any adjustment for the effect of time 
value of consideration. 
Komatsu is obligated to accept parts returned from customers for a certain period after the sale. In consideration of 
the relevant historical return result and other factors, Komatsu’s right to recover parts from customers is recognized 
in other current assets as a return asset, and also a refund liability is recognized in other current liabilities for its 
obligation to refund the customers upon return of parts. 
 

With regard to transactions with combination of products, periodic check, maintenance and others, performance 
obligations are identified in a single contract or combined contracts. Transaction price is allocated to each 
identified performance obligation according to the proportion of stand-alone selling price that is determined based 
on observable price such as contract amount, and estimated cost including historical experience. 
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After the product are sold or delivered, Komatsu repairs the sold product and replaces parts free of charge for a 
certain period in accordance with the contract. Thus, in order to provide for disbursement of the after-sales service 
costs, provision for product warranties is recognized based on the relevant historical result. In addition to this 
standard warranty, Komatsu offers a package of extended warranty for power line (engine & power systems and 
hydraulic system) upon the purchase of a product and free maintenance service as a service program to maintain 
the performance of construction equipment over a longer period of time. Komatsu determines this program to be a 
service-type warranty, and identifies a separate performance obligation for recognizing revenue from this program. 
As the costs incurred to obtain a contract with a customer are to be amortized within one year, they are expensed as 
incurred by applying a practical expedient on the costs for obtaining a contract with a customer. 
 

(1) Disaggregation of revenue 
Revenue from contracts with customers and other sources during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
are as follows. 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Revenue recognized from contracts with customers ¥ 2,234,629 ¥ 2,521,966 
Revenue recognized from other sources 210,241 203,277 
Total ¥ 2,444,870 ¥ 2,725,243 

 

The disaggregation of revenue by operating and geographic segment are described in Note 23. 
Revenue recognized from other sources primarily comprises revenue recognized from lease contracts and financial 
income such as interest income. 
 

(2) Contract balances 
Contract balances arising from contracts with customers at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Receivables *1 ¥ 980,371  ¥ 1,067,025 
Contract assets *2 3,483  7,443 
Contract liabilities *3 100,472  94,720 
 

*1 Receivables are included in trade notes and accounts receivable, net and long-term trade receivables, net in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These amounts are before deducting allowance for doubtful trade 
receivables. 
*2 Contract assets are included in trade notes and accounts receivable, net in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets. These amounts are before deducting allowance for doubtful trade receivables. 
*3 Contract liabilities are included in other current liabilities and deferred income taxes and other liabilities in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 
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Komatsu’s contract assets mainly relate to its right to consideration for product sales contracts in the industrial 
machinery business, for which the performance obligation has been satisfied but the invoicing conditions have not 
been satisfied as of a reporting date. Contract assets are reclassified to receivables when the right to consideration 
becomes unconditional. 
 

Komatsu’s contract liabilities are those arising from all or part of the consideration received from the customers 
before the corresponding performance obligation is satisfied. The main components of the contract liabilities are 
unearned revenue and advances received. Komatsu recognizes unearned revenue by identifying separate 
performance obligations such as extended warranties. Advances received from the customers are recognized in 
long-term maintenance contracts for which revenue is recognized over the contract period, and also in product sales 
contracts for large press machines and the like for which revenue is recognized upon acceptance of the customers. 
 

Revenue recognized for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 that was included in the contract liability balance as 
of March 31, 2019 was ¥52,387 million. Revenue recognized for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 that was 
included in the contract liability balance as of April 1, 2018 was ¥47,817 million. 
The amount of revenue recognized during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 from the performance 
obligations satisfied or partially satisfied in the previous periods and the amount of impairment losses recognized 
for receivables and contract assets are immaterial.  Additionally, there were no significant changes in contract 
assets and contract liabilities for contracts with customers during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 

(3) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations 
As of March 31, 2020, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 
obligations that have original expected durations greater than one year was ¥177,207 million, of which ¥90,689 
million is expected to be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2021. 
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16.  Income Taxes 
The sources of income before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliated companies and the sources of 
income taxes for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, were as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Income before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliated companies:  

Japan ¥ 65,421  ¥ 151,703 
Foreign 157,693  225,768 

 ¥ 223,114  ¥ 377,471 

Income taxes:  

Current –  

Japan ¥ 21,642  ¥ 52,850 
Foreign 44,822  59,691 

 ¥ 66,464  ¥ 112,541 

Deferred –  

Japan ¥ 1,427  ¥ (3,314)
Foreign (5,018)  (2,628)

 ¥ (3,591)  ¥ (5,942)

Total ¥ 62,873  ¥ 106,599 

 

Total income taxes recognized for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were applicable to the 
following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Income before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliated companies ¥ 62,873  ¥ 106,599 
Other comprehensive income(loss):  

Foreign currency translation adjustments (26)  (6)
Pension liability adjustments (930)  (942)
Net unrealized holding gains(losses) on derivative instruments 184  (734)

Total income taxes ¥ 62,101  ¥ 104,917 
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Temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which gave rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 
2020 and 2019, are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Deferred tax assets:  

Allowances provided, not yet recognized for tax ¥ 7,473  ¥ 7,862 
Accrued expenses 40,601  41,520 
Investment securities 1,054  1,453 
Pension and retirement benefits 17,504  17,149 
Property, plant and equipment 1,398  1,398 
Operating lease liabilities 15,116  － 

Inventories 11,959  12,275 
Net operating loss carryforwards 31,794  32,649 
Research and development expenses 1,431  1,678 
Tax credit carryforwards 2,123  2,930 
Other 9,013  12,957 
Total gross deferred tax assets 139,466  131,871 
Less: valuation allowance (25,779)  (29,118)

Total deferred tax assets ¥ 113,687  ¥ 102,753 

Deferred tax liabilities:  

Unrealized holding gains on securities available for sale ¥ －  ¥ 24 
Property, plant and equipment 24,280  23,963 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 15,093  － 

Intangible assets 28,825  32,318 
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries and affiliated 
companies accounted for by the equity method 

8,294  7,077 

Other 239  514 
Total deferred tax liabilities ¥ 76,731  ¥ 63,896 

Total deferred tax assets ¥ 36,956  ¥ 38,857 

 

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are reflected on the consolidated balance 
sheets under the following captions: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Deferred income taxes and other assets ¥ 62,832  ¥ 64,506 
Deferred income taxes and other liabilities (25,876)  (25,649)
 ¥ 36,956  ¥ 38,857 
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The valuation allowance was ¥31,244 million as of March 31, 2018. The net changes in the total valuation 
allowance for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were a decrease of ¥3,339 million and a decrease of 
¥2,126 million, respectively. 
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is 
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences 
become deductible and net operating losses available to be utilized. Management considers the scheduled reversal 
of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. 
Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in 
which the deferred tax assets, net of the existing valuation allowances at March 31, 2020 and 2019, are deductible, 
management believes it is more likely than not that the companies will realize the benefits of these deductible 
differences and net operating loss carryforwards. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, 
however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are 
reduced. 
As of March 31, 2020, Komatsu had tax credit carryforwards of approximately ¥2,123 million, which will expire 
within the year ending March 31, 2026. 
 

The Company and its Japanese subsidiaries are subject to a National Corporate tax rate of approximately 23%, an 
inhabitant tax of approximately 5% and a deductible Enterprise tax of approximately 5%, which in the aggregate 
resulted in a Japanese statutory tax rate of approximately 31.3% for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
The inhabitant tax rate and Enterprise tax rate vary by local jurisdiction. 
The differences between the Japanese statutory tax rates and the effective tax rates for the fiscal years ended March 
31, 2020 and 2019, are summarized as follows: 
 

 2020  2019 

Japanese statutory tax rate 31.3%  31.3% 

Increase (decrease) in tax rates resulting from:  

Change in valuation allowance (0.5)  (0.9) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.1  1.6 
Income of foreign subsidiaries taxed at lower than Japanese normal 
rate 

(4.0)  (3.5) 

Tax credit for research and development expenses (1.9)  (0.7) 
Effect of enacted changes in U.S. tax act －  0.2 
Other, net 1.2  0.2 

Effective tax rate 28.2%  28.2% 



－ 48 － 

Foreign subsidiaries are subject to income taxes of the countries in which they operate. At March 31, 2020 and 
2019, undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries amount to ¥1,055,635 million and ¥971,118 million, 
respectively. The Company has a policy to distribute a certain portion of undistributed earnings of foreign 
subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, Komatsu recognized deferred tax liabilities of ¥2,612 million and 
¥1,462 million, respectively, associated with those earnings. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, Komatsu did not 
recognize deferred tax liabilities of ¥49,269 million and ¥47,264 million, respectively, for such portion of 
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that the Company intends to reinvest indefinitely. 
At March 31, 2020, certain subsidiaries had net operating loss carryforwards aggregating approximately ¥68,258 
million, which may be used as a deduction in determining taxable income in future periods. The period available to 
offset future taxable income varies in each tax jurisdiction as follows: 
 

At March 31, 2020 Millions of yen 

Within 5 years ¥ 30,093 
6 to 20 years 2,464 
Indefinite periods 35,701 
Total ¥ 68,258 

 

For other net operating loss carryforwards than the aforementioned amount, at March 31, 2020, some U.S. 
subsidiaries had net operating loss carryforwards associated with state tax aggregating approximately ¥241,812 
million, which may be used as a deduction in determining taxable income in future periods. The deferred tax assets 
associated with those net operating loss carryforwards were ¥15,366 million. 
The reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefite are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 16,094  ¥ 12,064 
Additions for tax positions related to current period  1,215   1,715 
Additions for tax positions related to prior period  386   2,358 
Reductions for tax positions related to prior period  (411)  (136)
Reductions for settlements  (766)  － 

Other  (129)  93 

Balance at end of year ¥ 16,389  ¥ 16,094 

    

Total net amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, 
would affect the effective tax rate 

 16,389   16,094 

 

Although Komatsu believes its estimates of unrecognized tax benefits are reasonable, uncertainties regarding the 
final determination of income tax audit settlements and any related litigation could affect the total amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits in the future periods. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, interest and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits were not material. Based on the information available as of March 31, 
2020, Komatsu does not expect significant changes to the unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months. 
Komatsu files income tax returns in Japan and various foreign tax jurisdictions. Komatsu is no longer subject to 
income tax examinations by the tax authority before and in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 in Japan and, is 
no longer subject to income tax examinations by the tax authority before and in the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2011 in the United States. In other foreign tax jurisdictions, the other subsidiaries are no longer subject to income 
tax examinations by tax authorities before and in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 with few exceptions. 
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17.  Leases 
(1) Lessee 
Komatsu leases lands, buildings, vehicles, employee housings, etc. through finance and operating leases. Some of 
these leases may include options to extend or terminate the lease with preliminary notice. Komatsu determines 
lease terms with the options on the lease commencement date if it is reasonably certain that Komatsu will exercise 
those options. As a rate implicit in the most of Komatsu’s leases cannot be determined, Komatsu recognizes right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities calculated present value of lease payments by using incremental borrowing rate 
based on the information available. Komatsu’s finance leases are not material. 
 

Supplementary information to operating leases on the balance sheet as of March 31, 2020 is as follows: 
 

 2020 

Weighted average remaining lease term  8.6years 
Weighted average discount rates  1.9% 

 

Amounts of maturities of operating lease liabilities in each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the five 
years thereafter as of March 31, 2020 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

2021 ¥ 15,522 
2022 9,938 
2023 6,477 
2024 4,666 
2025 3,263 
Thereafter 18,707 
Total minimum lease payments ¥ 58,573 
Less: Imputed interest (5,016)

Total lease liabilities ¥ 53,557 

 

 

Lease costs for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 are comprised of the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

Operating lease cost ¥ 18,834 
Short term lease cost 4,479 
 

Variable lease payments that are not included in lease liabilities are not material. 
 

Supplementary cash flow information to leases for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 is as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

Cash paid for amount included in the measurement of lease liabilities 
Operating leases 
Cash flows by operating activities ¥ 19,214 
 

Noncash activity – Rights of use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities 
Operating leases ¥ 17,475 
 

Leases that have not yet commenced but that create significant rights and obligations as of March 31, 2020 are not 
material. 
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Rent expenses under cancelable and non-cancelable operating leases amounted to ¥22,638 million for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2019. 
 

At March 31, 2019, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases and finance leases 
are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

Fiscal year ended March 31 
Finance leases  

Operating lease 
commitments  Total 

2020 ¥ 744  ¥ 8,620  ¥ 9,364 
2021 627  6,007  6,634 
2022 161  4,277  4,438 
2023 8  3,210  3,218 
2024 141  2,278  2,419 
Thereafter －  5,075  5,075 
Total minimum lease payments ¥ 1,681  ¥ 29,467  ¥ 31,148 
Less: amounts representing interest (64)   

Present value of net minimum finance lease payments ¥ 1,617   

 

(2) Lessor 
Komatsu provides sales-type and operating leases as a lessor for leveling cash payments of its customers when 
customers purchase primarily Komatsu’s construction and mining equipment. Revenue from the sale of these 
products under sales-type leases is recognized at the inception of the lease. Interest income on sales-type leases is 
recognized over the life of each lease using the interest method. Revenue from operating leases is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Some of these leases may include options to extend or terminate the lease. 
Some of these leases also may include options for the lessee to purchase the underlying assets at stated fixed price 
or fair market value. 
The residual value of Komatsu’s leased equipment is determined based on its estimated end-of-term market values. 
Komatsu estimates the residual value of leased equipment at the inception of the lease based on historical used 
equipment market sales prices, latest trends of the market, etc. Komatsu monitors estimated residual values of the 
leased equipment during the term of leases through understanding trends of the market. The present value of 
guaranteed residual value provided by customers as of March 31, 2020 is ¥8,425 million. 
 

Net investment in the sales-type leases as of March 31, 2020 is comprised of the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

Lease receivables ¥ 181,560 
Unguaranteed residual assets 8,105 
Net investment in the sales-type leases * ¥ 189,665 
Less: current portion (82,700)
 ¥ 106,965 

 

* The net investment in the sales-type leases is included in trade notes and accounts receivable, net and long-term 
trade receivables, net on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Undiscounted lease payments to be received under sales-type and operating leases in each of the next five years 
and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter as of March 31, 2020 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 Sales-type leases  Operating leases 

2021 ¥ 81,929  ¥ 33,133 
2022 53,501  18,207 
2023 35,440  8,043 
2024 16,300  3,648 
2025 6,198  1,314 
Thereafter 914  342 
Total undiscounted lease payments to be received ¥ 194,282  ¥ 64,687 
Less: Imputed interest (12,722)  － 

Total lease receivables ¥ 181,560  ¥ － 

 

Revenues from sales-type and operating leases as a lessor, included in net sales on the consolidated statement of 
income, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

Sales-type lease revenue 
Revenue recognized at the commencement date * ¥ 91,122 
Interest income 9,859 
Total sales-type lease revenue 100,981 
Operating lease revenue 92,664 

Total ¥ 193,645 

 

* The revenue recognized at the commencement date is included in net sales of the Construction, Mining and 
Utility Equipment operating segment. 
 

Equipment sales revenue from sales-type leases is recognized at the inception of the lease. At March 31, 2019 lease 
receivables comprised the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2019 

Minimum lease payments receivable ¥ 175,248 
Unearned income (12,540)

Net lease receivables ¥ 162,708 
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18.  Net Income Attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per Share 
The Company has the restricted stock compensation system (hereinafter, the “System”) for directors (other than 
outside directors) and employees of the Company and directors and employees of major subsidiaries. Among the 
new shares issued under the System, those transfer restrictions which have not been cancelled are distinguished as 
participating securities from common shares. Each common share and restricted stock has the same rights to net 
income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. 
A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per share 
computations is as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. ¥ 153,844  ¥ 256,491 
Net income attributable to participating securities (restricted stocks) 75  44 
Net income attributable to common shareholders ¥ 153,769  ¥ 256,447 

 

 Number of shares 

 2020  2019 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding, less treasury 
stock 

944,230,565  943,625,229 

Weighted average number of participating securities (restricted stocks) 459,183  163,556 
Weighted average number of common shares 943,771,382  943,461,673 

 

 Yen 

 2020  2019 

Basic net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per share ¥ 162.93  ¥ 271.81 
 

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the diluted net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per 
share computations is as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. ¥ 153,844  ¥ 256,491 
Net income attributable to participating securities (restricted stocks) 75  44 
Net income attributable to common shareholders ¥ 153,769  ¥ 256,447 

 

 Number of shares 

 2020  2019 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding, less treasury 
stock 

944,230,565  943,625,229 

Dilutive effect of:  

Stock options 741,949  1,063,977 
Weighted average number of participating securities (restricted stocks) 459,183  163,556 
Weighted average number of diluted common shares 944,513,331  944,525,650 

 

 Yen 

 2020  2019 

Diluted net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per share ¥ 162.80  ¥ 271.51 
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19.  Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 
At March 31, 2019, Komatsu was contingently liable for discounted and transferred receivables on a recourse basis 
with the financial institutions of ¥103 million. 
Komatsu provides guarantees to third parties of loans of the employees, affiliated companies, customers and other 
companies. The guarantees of loans relating to the employees are mainly made for their housing loans. The 
guarantees of loans relating to the affiliated companies, customers and other companies are made to enhance the 
credit of those companies. For each guarantee provided, Komatsu would have to perform under a guarantee if the 
borrower defaults on a payment within the contract terms. The contract terms are from 10 years to 30 years in the 
case of employees with housing loans, and from 1 year to 7 years in the case of loans relating to the affiliated 
companies, customers and other companies. The maximum amount of undiscounted payments Komatsu would 
have had to make in the event of default at March 31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥12,142 million and ¥14,917 million, 
respectively. The fair value of the liabilities recognized for Komatsu’s obligations as guarantors under those 
guarantees at March 31, 2020 were insignificant. Certain of those guarantees were secured by collateral and 
insurance issued to Komatsu. 
Komatsu provides guarantees that subsidiaries of the Company perform the obligations of the terms and conditions 
of contracts by standby letters of credit issued by banks. Komatsu would have to pay the liabilities incurred to 
banks if the subsidiaries don’t perform the obligations of the terms and conditions of contracts. The maximum 
amount of undiscounted payments Komatsu would have had to make in the event of defaults of the contracts at 
March 31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥15,590 million and ¥16,850 million, respectively. 
Management of the Company believes that losses from those contingent liabilities, if any, would not have a 
material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
Commitments for capital investment outstanding at March 31, 2020 and 2019 aggregated approximately ¥52,300 
million and approximately ¥29,300 million, respectively. 
Komatsu is involved in certain legal actions and claims arising mainly in the ordinary course of its business. It is 
the opinion of management and legal counsel that such litigation and claims will be resolved without material 
effect on Komatsu’s financial position. 
Komatsu has business activities with customers, dealers and associates around the world and its trade receivables 
from such parties and the guarantees for them are well diversified to minimize concentrations of credit risks. 
Management does not anticipate incurring losses on its trade receivables in excess of established allowances. 
Komatsu also issues contractual product warranties under which it generally guarantees the performance of 
products delivered and services rendered for a certain period or term. Changes in accrued product warranty cost for 
the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 43,565  ¥ 44,623 
Addition 25,942  31,481 
Utilization (29,227)  (29,141)
Other (1,821)  (3,398)
Balance at end of year ¥ 38,459  ¥ 43,565 
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20.  Derivative Financial Instruments 
Risk Management Policy 
Komatsu is exposed to market risk primarily from changes in foreign currency exchange and interest rates with 
respect to debt obligations, international operations and foreign currency denominated credits and debts. In order to 
manage these risks that arise in the normal course of business, Komatsu enters into various derivative transactions 
for hedging pursuant to its policies and procedures (Notes 21 and 22). Komatsu does not enter into derivative 
financial transactions for trading or speculative purposes. 
Komatsu has entered into interest rate swap and cap agreements, partly concurrent with currency swap agreements 
for the purpose of managing the risk resulting from changes in cash flow or fair value that arise in their interest rate 
and foreign currency exposure with respect to certain short-term and long-term debts. 
Komatsu operates internationally, which exposes Komatsu to the foreign exchange risk against existing assets and 
liabilities and transactions denominated in foreign currencies (principally the U.S. dollar and the Euro). In order to 
reduce these risks, Komatsu executes forward exchange contracts and option contracts based on its projected cash 
flow in foreign currencies. 
Komatsu is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to derivative financial 
instruments, but Komatsu does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their obligations because of the high 
credit rating of the counterparties. Komatsu has not held any derivative instruments which consisted of credit-risk-
related contingent features. 
 

Cash Flow Hedges 
Komatsu uses derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges to manage Komatsu’s foreign 
exchange risks associated with forecasted transactions and Komatsu’s interest risks associated with debt obligations. 
For transactions denominated in foreign currencies, Komatsu typically hedges forecasted and firm commitment 
exposures to the variability in cash flow basically up to one year. For the variable rate debt obligations, Komatsu 
enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage the changes in cash flows. Komatsu records the changes in fair 
value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). 
These amounts are reclassified into same location as earnings derived from hedged item when the hedged items 
impact earnings. Approximately ¥332 million of existing losses included in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) at March 31, 2020 will be reclassified into earnings within twelve months from that date. Cash flow 
hedges discontinued during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 as a result of anticipated transactions that are no 
longer probable of occurring were not material to Komatsu’s financial position and results of operations. 
 

Undesignated Derivative Instruments 
Komatsu has entered into interest rate swap and cross-currency swap contracts not designated as hedging 
instruments under ASC 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” as a means of managing Komatsu’s interest rate exposures 
for short-term and long-term debts. Forward contracts not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815 are 
also used to hedge certain foreign currency exposures. The changes in fair value of such instruments are recognized 
currently in earnings. 
 

Notional Principal Amounts of Derivative Financial Instruments 
Notional principal amounts of derivative financial instruments outstanding at March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Forwards contracts:  

Sale of foreign currencies ¥ 147,655  ¥ 209,878 
Purchase of foreign currencies 101,835  145,476 

Interest rate swaps and cross-currency swap agreements 83,088  108,606 
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Fair value of derivative instruments at March 31, 2020 and 2019 on the consolidated balance sheets are as follows: 
  Millions of yen 

  2020 

  Derivative Assets  Derivative Liabilities 

Derivative instruments designated as 
hedging instruments 

 
Location on the consolidated 

Balance Sheets  
Estimated 
fair value  

Location on the consolidated 
Balance Sheets  

Estimated 
fair value 

Forwards contracts  Other current assets  ¥ 1,567  Other current liabilities  ¥ 1,836 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 9  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 318 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap 
agreements 

 Other current assets  －  Other current liabilities  4 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 －  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 866 

Total    ¥ 1,576    ¥ 3,024 

 

  Derivative Assets  Derivative Liabilities 

Undesignated derivative instruments 
 

Location on the consolidated 
Balance Sheets  

Estimated 
fair value  

Location on the consolidated 
Balance Sheets  

Estimated 
fair value 

Forwards contracts  Other current assets  ¥ 7,511  Other current liabilities  ¥ 1,673 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 2  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 2 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap 
agreements 

 Other current assets  546  Other current liabilities  196 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 207  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 － 

Total    ¥ 8,266    ¥ 1,871 
Total Derivative Instruments    ¥ 9,842    ¥ 4,895 

 

  Millions of yen 

  2019 

  Derivative Assets  Derivative Liabilities 

Derivative instruments designated as 
hedging instruments 

 
Location on the consolidated 

Balance Sheets  
Estimated 
fair value  

Location on the consolidated 
Balance Sheets  

Estimated 
fair value 

Forwards contracts  Other current assets  ¥ 893  Other current liabilities  ¥ 577 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 1  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 404 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap 
agreements 

 Other current assets  1  Other current liabilities  1 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 3  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 513 

Total    ¥ 898    ¥ 1,495 

 

  Derivative Assets  Derivative Liabilities 

Undesignated derivative instruments 
 

Location on the consolidated 
Balance Sheets  

Estimated 
fair value  

Location on the consolidated 
Balance Sheets  

Estimated 
fair value 

Forwards contracts  Other current assets  ¥ 1,980  Other current liabilities  ¥ 1,649 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 2  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 2 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap 
agreements 

 Other current assets  98  Other current liabilities  163 

 Deferred income taxes and 
other assets 

 104  Deferred income taxes and 
other liabilities 

 46 

Total    ¥ 2,184    ¥ 1,860 
Total Derivative Instruments    ¥ 3,082    ¥ 3,355 
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The effects of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedging relationships 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

 
Amount of 

gains (losses) 
recognized 

in OCI 
on derivatives 

 
 

Gains (losses) reclassified from 
accumulated OCI on derivatives 

  
Location of 

consolidated statements of income   
Amount 

Forwards contracts ¥ 1,146  Net sales 
Cost of sales 

Other income (expenses), 
net： Other, net 

¥ 1,725 
(211)
333 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap agreements 

(507)  － － 

Total ¥ 639  ¥ 1,847 

 
 Millions of yen 

 2019 

 Effective portion  
Ineffective portion and amount 

excluded from effectiveness testing 

 

Amount of 
gains (losses) 

recognized 
in OCI 

on derivatives 

 

Location of 
gains (losses) 
reclassified 

from accumulated 
OCI into income 

 

Amount of 
gains (losses) 
reclassified 

from accumulated 
OCI into income 

 

Location of 
gains (losses) 

recognized 
in income 

on derivatives 

 

Amount of 
gains (losses) 

recognized 
in income 

on derivatives 

Forwards contracts ¥ (5,427)  Other income 
(expenses), 
net: Other, net 

 ¥ (4,321)  Other income 
(expenses), 
net: Other, net 

¥ 836 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap agreements 

(468)  －  －  － － 

Total ¥ (5,895)   ¥ (4,321)  ¥ 836 

 

* OCI stands for other comprehensive income (loss). 
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Derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments relationships 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

 
Location of gains (losses) recognized 

in income on derivatives  
Amount of gains (losses) recognized 

in income on derivatives 

Forwards contracts Other income (expenses), net: Other, net  ¥ 4,067 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap agreements 

Cost of sales  (34)
Other income (expenses), net: Other, net  (27)

Total   ¥ 4,006 

 

 Millions of yen 

 2019 

 
Location of gains (losses) recognized 

in income on derivatives  
Amount of gains (losses) recognized 

in income on derivatives 

Forwards contracts Other income (expenses), net: Other, net  ¥ 1,347 

Interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swap agreements 

Cost of sales  (51)
Other income (expenses), net: Other, net  (96)

Total   ¥ 1,200 
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21.  Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
(1) Cash and cash equivalents, Time deposits, Short-term debt 
The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. 
 

(2) Investment securities, marketable equity securities (Note 22) 
The fair values of investment securities are stated in Note 22 and therefore are not included in the table below. 
 

(3) Long-term trade receivables, net, excluding lease receivables (Note 4) 
The fair values of long-term trade receivables are based on the present value of future cash flows through maturity, 
discounted using the current interest rates for similar receivables of comparable maturity. 
 

(4) Long-term debt, including current portion 
The fair values of each of the long-term debt are based on the quoted price in the most active market or the present 
value of future cash flows associated with each instrument discounted using the current market borrowing rate for 
similar debt of comparable maturity. 
 

(5) Derivatives (Notes 20 and 22) 
The fair values of derivative financial instruments are stated in Note 22 and therefore are not included in the table 
below. 
 

The carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of the financial instruments as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
and fair value levels are summarized as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen   

 2020  2019   

 
Carrying 

amount 
 

Estimated 

fair value 
 

Carrying 

amount 
 

Estimated 

fair value 
 

Fair Value 

Levels 

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 247,616  ¥ 247,616  ¥ 148,479  ¥ 148,479  Level 1 
Time deposits 2,057  2,057  2,331  2,331  Level 2 
Long-term trade receivables, net, excluding 
lease receivables 

314,592  314,592  294,025  294,025  Level 2 

Short-term debt 483,658  483,658  404,659  404,659  Level 2 
Long-term debt, including current portion 528,720  528,460  526,041  523,921  Level 2 
 

Notes: 
1) Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information and information 
about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of 
significant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could affect the 
estimates. 
2) The fair value levels are stated in Note 22. 
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22.  Fair Value Measurements 
ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements” defines that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 
establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The three levels 
of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 
 

Level 
1 

– Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

   

Level 
2 

– Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or 
liabilities, either directly or indirectly 

   

Level 
3 

– Unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities 

 

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
The fair value hierarchy levels of assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at March 
31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

At March 31, 2020 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Assets    

Investment securities, marketable equity securities    

Manufacturing industry ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ － 

Derivatives    

Forward contracts －  9,089  －  9,089 
Interest rate swaps and cross-currency swap 
agreements 

－  753  －  753 

   Total ¥ －  ¥ 9,842  ¥ －  ¥ 9,842 

Liabilities    

Derivatives    

Forward contracts ¥ －  ¥ 3,829  ¥ －  ¥ 3,829 
Interest rate swaps and cross-currency swap 
agreements 

－  1,066  －  1,066 

   Total ¥ －  ¥ 4,895  ¥ －  ¥ 4,895 

 

 Millions of yen 

At March 31, 2019 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Assets    

Investment securities, marketable equity securities    

Manufacturing industry ¥ 430  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ 430 
Derivatives    

Forward contracts －  2,876  －  2,876 
Interest rate swaps and cross-currency swap 
agreements 

－  206  －  206 

   Total ¥ 430  ¥ 3,082  ¥ －  ¥ 3,512 

Liabilities    

Derivatives    

Forward contracts ¥ －  ¥ 2,632  ¥ －  ¥ 2,632 
Interest rate swaps and cross-currency swap 
agreements 

－  723  －  723 

   Total ¥ －  ¥ 3,355  ¥ －  ¥ 3,355 
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Investment securities 
Marketable equity securities are classified in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. Marketable equity securities are 
measured using a market approach based on the quoted market prices in active markets. 
 

Derivatives (Notes 20 and 21) 
Derivatives primarily represent foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swap agreements. The fair value of 
foreign exchange contracts is based on a valuation model that discounts cash flows resulting from the differential 
between contract rate and the market-based forward rate and is classified in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The 
fair value of interest rate swap agreements is based on a valuation model that discounts cash flows based on the 
terms of the contract and the swap curves and is classified in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 

The following table summarizes information about changes of Level 3 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 
and 2019: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Balance, beginning of year ¥ －  ¥ (242)
Total gains or losses (realized / unrealized) －  242 

Included in earnings －  257 
Included in other comprehensive income (loss) －  (15)

Balance, end of year ¥ －  ¥ － 

 

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis 
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a 
non-recurring basis were not material. 
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23.  Business Segment and Geographic Information 
Komatsu has three operating segments: 1) Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment, 2) Retail Finance, and 3) 
Industrial Machinery and Others. Those operating segments which have separate financial information are 
available for allocating resources and assessing its performance by management. 
The accounting policies employed for the preparation of segment information are identical to those employed for 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 
Segment profit available for allocating resources and assessing its performance by management is determined by 
subtracting the cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses from net sales attributed to the 
operating segment. Segment profit excludes certain general corporate administration and finance expenses, such as 
costs of executive management, corporate development, corporate finance, human resources, internal audit, 
investor relations, legal and public relations. Segment profit also excludes certain charges which may otherwise 
relate to operating segments, including impairments of long-lived assets and goodwill. 
 

The following tables present financial information regarding Komatsu’s operating segments and geographic 
information at March 31, 2020 and 2019, and for the fiscal years then ended: 
 

Operating segments: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net sales:  

Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment –  

External customers ¥ 2,205,976  ¥ 2,466,660 
Intersegment 5,287  12,326 

Total 2,211,263  2,478,986 
Retail Finance –  

External customers 62,952  57,355 
Intersegment 7,958  6,230 

Total 70,910  63,585 
Industrial Machinery and Others –  

External customers 175,942  201,228 
Intersegment 1,644  2,007 

Total 177,586  203,235 
Elimination (14,889)  (20,563)
Consolidated ¥ 2,444,870  ¥ 2,725,243 

Segment profit:  

Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment ¥ 227,311  ¥ 365,346 
Retail Finance 12,673  17,506 
Industrial Machinery and Others 13,703  18,637 

Total segment profit 253,687  401,489 
Corporate expenses and elimination 1,343  (2,096)
Total 255,030  399,393 
Impairment loss on long-lived assets 3,194  1,251 
Impairment loss on goodwill 3,699  － 

Other operating income (expenses), net 2,570  (336)
Operating income 250,707  397,806 
Interest and dividend income 7,378  7,154 
Interest expense (24,592)  (24,101)
Other, net (10,379)  (3,388)
Consolidated income before income taxes and equity in earnings of 
affiliated companies 

¥ 223,114  ¥ 377,471 
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 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Segment assets:  

Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment ¥ 2,521,646  ¥ 2,559,432 
Retail Finance 841,063  842,147 
Industrial Machinery and Others 216,728  206,419 
Corporate assets and elimination 74,249  30,221 
Consolidated ¥ 3,653,686  ¥ 3,638,219 

Depreciation and amortization:  

Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment ¥ 91,049  ¥ 94,150 
Retail Finance 32,266  29,505 
Industrial Machinery and Others 6,210  6,205 
Consolidated ¥ 129,525  ¥ 129,860 

Capital investment:  

Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment ¥ 116,282  ¥ 98,809 
Retail Finance 45,636  76,198 
Industrial Machinery and Others 4,634  4,203 
Consolidated ¥ 166,552  ¥ 179,210 

 

Business categories and principal products and services included in each operating segment are as follows: 
 

a) Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment operating segment: 
Excavating equipment, loading equipment, grading and roadbed preparation equipment, hauling equipment, 
forestry equipment, tunneling machines, underground mining equipment, recycling equipment, industrial vehicles, 
other equipment, engines and components, casting products and logistics 
 

b) Retail Finance: 
Financing 
 

c) Industrial Machinery and Others operating segment: 
Metal forging and stamping presses, sheet-metal machines, machine tools, defense systems, temperature-control 
equipment and optical machinery 
Transfers between segments are made at estimated arm’s length prices. 
Segment assets are those assets used in the operations of each segment. Unallocated corporate assets consist 
primarily of cash and cash equivalents maintained for general corporate purposes. 
Amortization for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, does not include amortization of long-term 
prepaid expenses of ¥2,071 million and ¥1,604 million. 
Impairment loss on long-lived assets recorded in each segment asset for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 
2019, are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Construction, Mining and Utility Equipment ¥ 2,158  ¥ 1,015 
Retail Finance 1  － 

Industrial Machinery and Others 1,035  236 
Total ¥ 3,194  ¥ 1,251 



－ 63 － 

Geographic information: 
Net sales determined by customer location for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020 

 
Construction, 

Mining and 

Utility Equipment 

 Retail Finance  
Industrial Machinery 

and Others 
 Total 

Japan ¥ 310,856  ¥ 2,324  ¥ 83,404  ¥ 396,584 
The Americas 882,842  49,042  18,966  950,850 
Europe and CIS 347,138  2,527  9,914  359,579 
China 127,064  3,135  25,615  155,814 
Asia (excluding Japan and China) 
and Oceania 

409,158  5,845  37,728  452,731 

Middle East and Africa 128,918  79  315  129,312 

Total ¥ 2,205,976  ¥ 62,952  ¥ 175,942  ¥ 2,444,870 

 

Net sales to U.S.A. in the Americas for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 were ¥511,966 million. 
 

The amounts classified into revenue recognized from other sources described in Note 15 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 within the net sales of the Construction, Mining and 
Utility Equipment operating segment are ¥35,733 million in Japan, ¥32,865 million in the Americas, ¥30,986 
million in Europe and CIS, ¥32,636 million in China, and ¥15,752 million in Asia (excluding Japan and China) 
and Oceania. Net sales of the Retail Finance operating segment for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 are 
primarily the amounts classified into revenue recognized from other sources described in Note 15 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 

Net sales determined by customer location for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2019 

 
Construction, 

Mining and 

Utility Equipment 

 Retail Finance  
Industrial Machinery 

and Others 
 Total 

Japan ¥ 312,791  ¥ 1,937  ¥ 89,432  ¥ 404,160 
The Americas 937,850  43,842  32,895  1,014,587 
Europe and CIS 342,213  2,640  13,663  358,516 
China 164,803  3,267  24,590  192,660 
Asia (excluding Japan and China) 
and Oceania 

554,611  5,577  40,566  600,754 

Middle East and Africa 154,392  92  82  154,566 

Total ¥ 2,466,660  ¥ 57,355  ¥ 201,228  ¥ 2,725,243 
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Net sales to U.S.A. in the Americas for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 were ¥521,391 million. 
 

The amounts classified into revenue recognized from other sources described in Note 15 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 within the net sales of the Construction, Mining and 
Utility Equipment operating segment are ¥36,251 million in Japan, ¥29,275 million in the Americas, ¥26,583 
million in Europe and CIS, ¥47,406 million in China, and ¥6,757 million in Asia (excluding Japan and China) and 
Oceania. Net sales of the Retail Finance operating segment for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 are primarily 
the amounts classified into revenue recognized from other sources described in Note 15 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 

Net sales determined by geographic origin for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, and property, plant 
and equipment determined based on physical location at March 31, 2020 and 2019, are as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Net sales:  

Japan ¥ 534,514  ¥ 632,903 
The Americas 891,329  930,269 
Europe and CIS 355,928  372,649 
China 137,257  176,053 
Others 525,842  613,369 
Total ¥ 2,444,870  ¥ 2,725,243 

Property, plant and equipment:  

Japan ¥ 364,347  ¥ 360,409 
The Americas 244,603  255,664 
Europe and CIS 40,885  41,439 
Others 107,844  118,910 
Total ¥ 757,679  ¥ 776,422 

 

There were no sales to a single major external customer for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
Property, plant and equipment located in U.S.A. in the Americas at March 31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥173,024 
million and ¥180,945 million, respectively. 
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24.  Supplementary Information to Balance Sheets 
At March 31, 2020 and 2019, other current assets were comprised of the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Prepaid expenses ¥ 14,521  ¥ 14,161 
Short-term loans receivable:  

Affiliated companies 1,723  1,522 
Other 30  36 
Total ¥ 1,753  ¥ 1,558 

Other 131,139  122,696 
Total ¥ 147,413  ¥ 138,415 

 

At March 31, 2020 and 2019, other current liabilities were comprised of the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Accrued expenses ¥ 110,310  ¥ 119,198 
Advances received 58,248  56,275 
Other 129,267  138,478 
Total ¥ 297,825  ¥ 313,951 

 

Valuation and qualifying accounts deducted from assets to which they apply for the fiscal years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019 were comprised of the following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Allowance for doubtful receivables  

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 12,758  ¥ 23,657 
Additions  

Charged to costs and expenses 10,589  5,270 
Charged to other accounts 22  5 

Deductions (6,547)  (16,174)
Balance at end of year ¥ 16,822  ¥ 12,758 

 

Deductions were principally collectible or uncollectible accounts and notes charged to the allowance. 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets  

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 29,118  ¥ 31,244 
Additions  

Charged to costs and expenses 2,364  9,188 
Charged to other accounts －  － 

Deductions (5,703)  (11,314)
Balance at end of year ¥ 25,779  ¥ 29,118 

 

Deductions were principally changes in the expected realization of deferred tax assets and realization or expiration 
of net operating loss carryforwards. 



－ 66 － 

25.  Supplementary Information to Statements of Income 
The following information shows research and development expenses and advertising costs, for the fiscal years 
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. Research and development expenses and advertising costs are charged to expense 
as incurred and are included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses in consolidated 
statements of income. 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Research and development expenses ¥ 74,761  ¥ 73,447 
Advertising costs 3,694  3,326 
 

Shipping and handling costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2020 and 2019, were as follows: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Shipping and handling costs ¥ 48,217  ¥ 55,706 
 

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, Komatsu recognized an impairment loss of ¥3,194 million 
and ¥1,251 million related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at the Company and certain 
subsidiaries, as profitability of the assets was expected to be low in the future and Komatsu estimated the carrying 
amounts would not be recovered by the future cash flows. 
 

Other operating income (expenses), net for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, were comprised of the 
following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Gain on sale of fixed assets ¥ 5,955  ¥ 2,653 
Loss on disposal or sale of fixed assets (5,221)  (4,342)
Other 1,836  1,353 
Total ¥ 2,570  ¥ (336)

 

Other income (expenses), net for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, were comprised of the 
following: 
 

 Millions of yen 

 2020  2019 

Interest income  

Installment receivables ¥ 1,684  ¥ 1,929 
Other 5,174  4,776 

Dividends 520  449 
Interest expense (24,592)  (24,101)
Impairment loss and net loss (gain) on valuation of investment securities 97  (499)
Exchange gain (loss), net (12,904)  (5,597)
Other 2,428  2,708 
Total ¥ (27,593)  ¥ (20,335)
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26.  Material Subsequent Events 
Not applicable. 
Komatsu evaluated subsequent events through June 29, 2020, the issue date of its consolidated financial statements. 
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27.  Terminology, Forms and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements 
The terminology, forms and preparation methods of the Company’s consolidated financial statements are in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
The main differences between consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and those 
prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Consolidated Financial Statements and the Ordinance on 
Terminology, Forms and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements of Japan (hereinafter “J. 
GAAP”) are as follows. 
 

(1) Scope of consolidation 
For consolidated financial statements in accordance with J. GAAP, the scope of consolidation is determined on an 
effective control and influence basis. For consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, the 
scope of consolidation is determined on the shareholding basis on which the determination is based on voting rights 
and on a consolidation basis of variable interest entities. 
 

(2) Accounting policies 
a. Deferred income on installment sales 
Although deferral of income on installment sales is permitted in accordance with J. GAAP, the Company 
recognizes income at the time of sales without deferring income on installment sales in its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 

b. Share issuance cost 
Although in accordance with J. GAAP, share issuance cost is permitted to be recognized in profit or loss when 
incurred, the Company treats such cost in a deduction item from capital surplus as expenses incidental to capital 
transactions in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 

c. Accounting for retirement benefits 
Although in accordance with J. GAAP, net actuarial gains or losses are required to be amortized over certain 
periods that are shorter than the average remaining years of service, the Company has adopted the corridor 
approach in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 

d. Business combination and goodwill 
Goodwill is required to be amortized over certain periods in accordance with J. GAAP, while U.S. GAAP requires 
companies to implement impairment test at least once annually without goodwill being amortized. For intangible 
fixed assets with indefinite useful lives, U.S. GAAP also requires companies to implement impairment test without 
such assets being amortized. 
 

(3) Presentation methods and other matters 
a. Presentation of legal retained earnings 
Although in accordance with J. GAAP, legal retained earnings is recorded as retained earnings together with other 
surplus, the Company separately presents as appropriated legal reserve in its consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 

b. Extraordinary income and loss 
In accordance with J. GAAP, gain or loss on certain sales of non-current assets, such as gain or loss from the sale of 
fixed assets, is presented as extraordinary income or loss. However, since there is no concept of extraordinary items 
in U.S. GAAP, extraordinary income or loss is not presented in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

c. Investment and rental properties 
In accordance with J. GAAP, if the investment and rental properties are material, disclose notes for the outline, the 
carrying amount in the consolidated balance sheets and fair value of these properties are required. However, such 
notes are omitted in the Company’s consolidated financial statements because the total amount of investment and 
rental properties is immaterial.
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Supplementary Schedule 
Detailed Statements of Bonds 
Refer to Note 11 in the notes of consolidated financial statements. 
 

Detailed Statements of Borrowings, etc. 
Refer to Note 11 in the notes of consolidated financial statements. 
 

Detailed Statements of Asset Retirement Obligation 
The amounts of asset retirement obligation at the beginning and end of this fiscal year are less than a hundredth of 
the amounts of total liabilities and total equity at the beginning and end of this fiscal year, respectively. This 
statement has been omitted because it is immaterial. 
(2) Others 
Quarterly Financial Information 

 Millions of yen except per share amounts 

 
Three months ended 

June 30, 2019 
 

Six months ended 

September 30, 2019 
 

Nine months ended 

December 31, 2019 
 

Fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2020 

Net sales ¥ 609,767  ¥ 1,213,485  ¥ 1,827,442  ¥ 2,444,870 
Income before income taxes and equity in 
earnings of affiliated companies 

66,910  128,212  189,922  223,114 

Net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. 47,476  90,062  135,268  153,844 
Net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per 
share (Yen) 

   

Basic 50.30  95.40  143.27  162.93 
Diluted 50.25  95.32  143.15  162.80 

 

 Yen 

 
Three months ended 

June 30, 2019 
 

Three months ended 

September 30, 2019 
 

Three months ended 

December 31, 2019 
 

Three months ended 

March 31, 2020 

Net income attributable to Komatsu Ltd. per 
share 

   

Basic 50.30  45.11  47.87  19.67 
Diluted 50.25  45.07  47.83  19.66 

 


